UNIVERSITY OF LJUBLJANA FACULTY OF ECONOMICS

MASTER'S THESIS

MANAGING QUALITY IN DIRECT MARKETING INDUSTRY: A CASE STUDY OF LINEA DIRECTA COMMUNICATIONS

Ljubljana, September 2008

IZTOK HVALA

Author's STATEMENT

I, Iztok Hvala, hereby certify to be the author of this Master's thesis that was written under the mentorship of Borut Rusjan, PhD, and in compliance with the Act of Authors' and Related Rights – Para.1, Article 21. I herewith agree that this thesis maybe published on the website pages of the Faculty of Economics.

Ljubljana, September 2008

Signature:

Table of Contents

1. I	NTRODUCTION	1
2. D	DIRECT MARKETING	5
2.1.	What is Direct Marketing?	5
2.2.	Development of Direct Marketing	
2.3.	Benefits of Direct Marketing over Traditional Marketing	9
2.4.	Direct Marketing Communication Channels	
2.4.	.1. Telemarketing	
2.4.	.2. Direct Mail	11
2.4.	.3. Catalogue Marketing	
2.4.	.4. Interactive Marketing	
2.4.	.5. Other Communication Channels	
2.5.	Direct Marketing Today and Tomorrow	
2.5.	.1. Consumers Perspective	13
2.5.	.2. Marketers Perspective	14
2.5.	.3. European Legislation	
3. Q	QUALITY MANAGEMENT	
3.1.	What is Quality Management?	
3.2.	Development of Quality Management	
3.3.	Most Important Contributions to Quality Management	
3.3.	.1. Total Quality Management	
3.3.	.2. Quality Standards and Awards	
3.4.	Quality in Services	
3.4.	.1. Quality Management in Services	
3.4.	.2. Business-to-business Specific Environment	
4. S	SIX SIGMA	
4.1.	What is Six Sigma?	
4.2.	Six Sigma in Services	
4.3.	Organizational Readiness for Six Sigma	

4.4.	Company Prerequisites	
4.4	4.1. Management Involvement	
4.4	4.2. Cultural Change	
4.4	4.3. Infrastructure and Training	
4.4	4.4. Six Sigma, Business Strategy, Mission and Vision	
4.5.	Six Sigma Project Selection	
4.6.	DMAIC Methodology	
4.6	6.1. Defining Phase	
4.6	6.2. Measurement Phase	
4.6	6.3. Analysis Phase	
4.6	6.4. Improvement Phase	
4.6	6.5. Control Phase	
5.	LINEA DIRECTA COMMUNICATIONS	
5.1.	Company Description	
5.2.	Mission, Vision and Values	
5.2	2.1. Company's Mission	
5.2	2.2. Company's Vision	
5.2	2.3. Company Values	
5.3.	Business Strategy	47
5.4.	Services	
6.	A CASE STUDY – IMPLEMENTATION OF SIX SIGMA IN LINEA D	IRECTA
CON	IMUNICATIONS	
6.1.	Organizational Readiness	
6.2.	Project Selection	
6.3.	Defining Processes and Customer Requirements	
6.3	3.1. Identifying the Major Core Processes	
6.3	3.2. Defining the Key Outputs of the Core Processes	59
6.3	3.3. High-level Core Process Map	59
6.3	3.4. Gathering Customer Data	60
6.3	3.5. Developing Performance Standards and Requirements	61
6.3	3.6. Analyzing and Prioritizing Requirements	
6.4.	Measuring Current Performance	63
6.4	4.1. Planning and Executing Measures	

6.4.2. Developing Defect Measures and Identifying Improvement Opportunities	64
6.5. Analyzing the Causes	
6.6. Improving and Controlling	71
7. CONCLUSION	72
LITERATURE	75
SOURCES	
GLOSSARY	
ABBREVIATIONS	
APPENDICES	

List of Tables

Table 1: Sigma values and percentages of the sample	31
Table 2: 5 most important criteria for confirmation of Six Sigma project in LDC	58
Table 3: Number of defects by cause	70

List of Charts

Chart 1: System perspective of direct marketing model	7
Chart 2: A high level view of the end-to-end process of quality management	17
Chart 3: Application of PDCA technique	19
Chart 4: Role of core values, techniques and tools	
Chart 5: Key elements of the TQM philosophy	21
Chart 6: Baldrige Award framework	25
Chart 7: EQA framework	
Chart 8: Model of service quality gaps	
Chart 9: Normal distribution and sigma	
Chart 10: Matrix for evaluation of Six Sigma readiness	
Chart 11: position of roles within a typical organizational hierarchy	
Chart 12: Suggested way of implementation of Six Sigma as a strategy	
Chart 13: Six Sigma methodology for service processes	
Chart 14: Kano model	
Chart 15: Error rate versus sigma level	41
Chart 16: Costs of poor quality versus sigma level	
Chart 17: Model of optimal quality costs	
Chart 18: Root cause analysis cycle	
Chart 19: SIPOC analysis and map for profiling	60
Chart 20: Ishikawa Cause and Effect diagram for LDC profiling action	67
Chart 21: Process mapping for profiling in LDC	
Chart 22: Pareto chart of number of defective units by cause	71

1. Introduction

To begin with, I would like to describe the significant milestones over the past few decades in the field of Total Quality Management (TQM), which can be considered one of the most promising methods for quality management. So far, it has been proven (a subject of further discussion within the thesis) to be one of the most promising concepts for the use of implementation of quality management in direct marketing. The main authors in the field of TQM are considered to be Deming (1986), Juran, Juran and Gryna (1993), Crosby (1979), Feigenbaum (1991), and Ishikawa (1985), which have developed certain well-established propositions, which are accepted throughout the whole world. Findings of these authors provide a clear picture of TQM practices, its philosophy and principles. Several awards, which take notice of principles mentioned above, are given worldwide. The most well-known are: Deming Prize in Japan, the European Quality Award in Europe, and the Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award in the United States of America. These awards differ in their individual characteristics. Since my thesis will largely cover also the implementation of quality management model, it needs to be emphasized that various researches have already been conducted on this topic. Not only do these researches vary within the field of TQM, but also the whole quality management topic is approached in different manners. After the careful study of the work of the authors mentioned above, it has been found that they have different views about TQM, although some similarities can be found. However, the TQM concept is still a subject of debate (Easton and Jarrell, 1998) with a topic that is not completely clarified and a hazy concept (Dean and Bowen, 1994). TQM still has different meaning to different researchers (Hackman and Wageman, 1995). To sum up, the managerial perspective suggests that investment in service quality and building and maintenance of customer relationships can only be justified if it results in improved profitability (Rust and Zahorik, 1993). Since this is a matter of separate discussion, it will not be assessed within the thesis. To some extent, this effect has also been proven in some recent books that argue on values of quality service within direct marketing and more specifically on the field of call centres (Gilmore, 2003). Furthermore, at this point, there is no literature on application of quality management models in direct marketing available.

The purpose of the thesis is to make an overview of direct marketing and quality management and use these findings in order to incorporate them into Linea Directa Communications (LDC), using the most suitable method of quality management through the application of the DMAIC methodology. Furthermore, the intent of the thesis is to improve the quality of certain processes as well as the output of the company in its direct marketing actions. Marketing concept is driven by improvements in organizational performance by attracting and retaining satisfied customers. Most of studies and researches in marketing focus on the attracting part and tend to develop new products in order to achieve higher levels of customer acquisition. Nowadays, marketing academics focuses mainly on ways to produce new and very specialized products for the purpose of satisfying more and more specific needs.

However, most recent trends indicate changes and it has become evident that costs of customer acquisition are much higher than costs of customer retention. It is a logical consequence that caring for existing customers and building good relationships is also becoming a growing interest of practitioners since it is proven to improve profitability. Furthermore, the quality of output is widely seen as a key antecedent for successful customer relationships. Moreover, this is the case particularly in a service sector where quality can be difficult to imitate and as such, it can potentially provide the basis for a sustainable competitive edge. Offering a superior-quality service that the competition cannot reach gives consumers (or in this case business clients) the reason for selecting and remaining with a particular provider. Conversely, a service offer that is inferior or indistinct may lead to greater problems in attracting customers and to an increased likelihood of defection. To sum up, quality can, in principle, provide the basis for enhanced loyalty, retention and improved business performance.

The main goal of the thesis is to make an overview of available quality management methods, draw conclusions, which method would be the best to use in direct marketing industry and apply the model to Linea Directa Communications. There are several approved methods available, however, it should be assessed carefully which one to use in each specific company. In practice, combining several methods proves to be the worst possibility. It has also been observed in the past that choosing the wrong method can also have negative effects on processes within the company. Furthermore, LDC is becoming a large international company, and this is why the provision of quality services is becoming a growing issue. It is extremely hard to control the work in such differentiated environment. It is evident fact that companies which ignore the care for quality of their operations are bound to fail. This is also the reason why the leadership of the company decided to assess the quality issue and form a group within the company, what proved also to be the source of the idea for the topic of this Master's thesis.

Research objectives of the Master's thesis can be summed up in the following points:

- 1. To get an overview of quality management in services through implementation in direct marketing companies.
- 2. To obtain a quality management model for direct marketing company.
- 3. To estimate effects of quality management system on overall business performance in (specific) direct marketing company.

In order to reach the objectives above, the thesis will also offer answers to following questions:

- 1. What are the key elements of direct marketing?
- 2. What are the benefits of direct marketing?
- 3. What is the meaning of quality management in service industry?
- 4. What model of quality management is the most suitable for assessing quality in direct marketing companies?

- 5. How can quality management model be implemented into practice?
- 6. What are the estimated effects of implementation of quality management system into Linea Direct Communications?

The methodology used in the study will be based both on secondary and primary data. Secondary data will be gathered from various sources within the Linea Directa Communications database. A part of primary data will be acquired from the project assigned to the team for quality in the company, while the majority is based on individual work. Both data will be of quantitative as well as of qualitative nature. As already mentioned, the case study will be conducted on the company and all theoretical knowledge will be applied in order to produce a well-organised model. The team dealing with quality consists of three international members from the fields of international project management, international CRM, and international mentorship and has been assured to enjoy the full support from each country on the local level. All the consents signed from the CEO of the company and members of the team have been gathered in order to use the acquired information for the purpose of this Master's thesis. The study makes use of small percent of the data acquired for the application of one of the most suitable models. The purpose is to clarify whether quality management methods can be applied to direct marketing industry and to provide a certain guideline on how it should be assessed. In general, the work of the team dealing with quality serves more as inspiration, since models that will be discussed through thesis are much more specific in nature. Separate researches and interviews were conducted according to the needs while thesis was being written. All available theoretical content from various books on the topic of direct marketing and quality management as well as most recent articles from databases like ProQuest, EBSCO, Emerald, ScienceDirect, and others will be applied as well.

The structure of the thesis is formed in a comprehensive way and it starts by defining what direct marketing is and how it was evolved from its early beginnings. After that, benefits of the direct marketing over traditional marketing are presented and few indications for the future are described. Furthermore, there is an overview of all direct marketing channels presenting telemarketing, direct mail, catalogue marketing, interactive marketing and other communication channels. Direct marketing chapter concludes with consumer and marketer's perspective on current situation and future predictions with added description of current European legislation connected to the industry. The third chapter is devoted entirely to quality management, starting with thorough description and overview and continuing with the development of quality management through three important milestones that affect quality management, as we know it today. Penultimate subchapters are dealing with Total Quality Management, which is the main basis for all current quality management methods, as well as quality standards and awards, which contribute greatly to the development of methodology. The chapter is concluded with the description of quality management in a specific setting of business-to-business oriented service industry, in which LDC is majorly present. The fourth chapter provides theoretical overview of Six Sigma methodology and gives insight into company's prerequisites for the implementation of Six Sigma in the form of management involvement, cultural changes, infrastructure and training and business strategy. Furthermore,

this chapter explains the DMAIC methodology in details. The fifth chapter describes Linea Directa Communications as a company, provides its strategy, mission, vision, values as well as a description of services in order to emphasize how important role these elements play in implementation of quality management systems. The sixth chapter is the case study providing a clear understanding of how Six Sigma as the chosen quality management method can be implemented into LDC. Due to limitations of information, example will be based on actual situation with minor predictions included. Nevertheless, it will be assessed from the practical point of view including real course of work within the company. The case study starts by assessing company's readiness for Six Sigma. The remaining part of the chapter six continues with Six Sigma project selection and identification of core processes and customers. Last part is devoted to DMAIC methodology used to implement Six Sigma into LDC. In the conclusion, it is reviewed whether goals and objectives are reached and answers to the questions from the introduction are given. General recommendations are offered in order to provide guidelines for LDC as well as other direct marketing-oriented companies. The end of the thesis includes literature, sources, glossary, list of abbreviations, list of tables, list of charts and eight appendices.

2. Direct Marketing

2.1. What is Direct Marketing?

Direct marketing is one of the fastest-growing industries for serving customers. More and more business marketers turn to direct mail and telemarketing in response to high and increasing costs of reaching business markets through a sales force. In total, sales from direct marketing generate almost 9 percent of the U.S. economy (McCarthy, 2002, p. 4B). Although it is more developed in larger markets and by the most powerful manufacturers, direct marketing is also "the best placed tool to help small and medium-sized companies protect themselves from big companies with massive advertising budgets" (di Talamo, 1994, p. 261). It is as appropriate for small, highly defined audience, as well as for the large segment of the population (Young, 1993, p. 31), and can be used internationally as well as within the domestic market. Companies are trying to increase sales force productivity in addition to substitute mail- and phone-based selling units to reduce field sales expenses. Sales produced through traditional direct-marketing channels (catalogues, direct mail, and telemarketing) have been growing rapidly (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 604). In fact, almost 15 years ago, di Talamo (1994) suggested that direct marketing could play a major role in opening Europe for business.

Bird (1999), a practitioner of a worldwide authority, originally defined direct marketing as: "any activity which creates and exploits a direct relationship between you and your customer as an individual". Definitional difficulties occur because direct marketing is neither a medium (like direct mail) nor a channel of distribution (like mail order): "rather it is a means of communication which encompasses both media and channels, and multi-media and multichannels at that" (Young, 1993, p. 33). It has been traditionally defined as "an interactive system of marketing which uses one or more media to affect a measurable response and/or transaction at any location" (Squires, 1993, p. 40). This element of "measurable response" differentiates it from traditional advertising. Rapp and Collins (1990) see direct marketing as the use of consumer-direct channels to reach and deliver goods and services to customers without using marketing middlemen. These channels include direct mail, catalogues, telemarketing, interactive TV, kiosks, Web sites, and mobile devices. Direct marketers seek a measurable response, typically a customer order. This is sometimes called direct-order marketing. Today, many direct marketers use direct marketing to build a long-term relationship with the customer. They send birthday cards, information materials, or small premiums to certain customers. Airlines, hotels, and other businesses build strong customer relationships through frequency award programs and club programs (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 604).

Direct marketing is a discipline, a subset of marketing, which permits companies to carry out certain marketing tasks more efficiently by gathering, analysing and using information about

individual customers and prospects. This information enables companies to identify which people from customer and prospect files are likely to be interested in a particular product. service or offer. The company can then select only those who will find their message appropriate and communicate with them alone, eliminating much of the wastage inherent in other forms of advertising. This is the main reason why direct marketing is so cost-effective. The company can also use customer information to develop "profiles" and use these to identify the best sources of new customers (Thomas and Housden, 2002, p. 5). Direct marketing is a method of marketing based on individual customer records held in a database. These records are the basis for marketing analysis, planning, implementation of programs, and control of all this activity. In contrast, general marketing is structured around the creation of brands for each product and the attainment of market share for that product. In fact, the key to modern direct marketing is the capture of individual customer details at the first sale, so that the marketer can begin a relationship with those customers, subsequently treating them differently over time in order to generate repeat business (Tapp, 2005, p. 4). Direct marketing is the process of identifying customer needs and satisfying them in a way that is acceptable to both parties: customers feel that their needs have been recognized and fulfilled at a fair price and the supplier makes a fair profit. According to Peter Drucker, the aim of marketing is "to make selling superfluous; to know and understand the customer so well that the product or service fits ... and sells itself". This statement, written in 1973, is also a fairly accurate definition of the objective of direct marketing. Collecting and applying customer and prospect data enables marketers to identify customer needs and wants more precisely and communicate proposed solutions more cost-efficiently (Thomas and Housden, 2002, p. 5).

Direct marketing develops interactions between the company and its customers. A typical interaction between direct marketers and customers begins when direct marketers send solicitations to customers for the purpose of selling products or services. After receiving the solicitations, customers need to decide whether to buy the suggested product or not. By observing customers' responses (i.e., to buy or not to buy), direct marketers adjust their strategy and carry out new rounds of direct marketing activities. Chart 1 depicts clearly that in direct marketing, the following activities take place sequentially.

Input				
I	Activity	Questions		
Ī		What types	of data are used?	
	Collection of data	What is the	significance of different types of data?	
		How can m	arketers choose appropriate data?	
			Ļ	
Р	rocessing			
t				
╞	Activities		Questions	
ł	Selection of target	customers	Who should be selected and how?	
╞	Customer prof	iling	How to understand customers better?	
	Cross-selling and up-selling		What products or services should be offered to customers?	
ł			How can direct marketing activities	
	Direct marketing	strategy	satisfy business requirements?	
	planning		Is single mailing enough?	
L	is single induing enough.			
Output				
	Activity		Questions	
ſ	Performance ave	luation	Is the model accurate?	
	renormance eva	iuation	Is the model profitable?	

Chart 1: System perspective of direct marketing model

Source: Bose and Xi, 2008, p. 2

The first activity is the collection of customer data. Since the revenue of direct marketing depends on the number of customers responding to solicitations, the selection of target customers is the next important activity of direct marketing. Before target selection, a sophisticated customer profiling is usually conducted to make the selection more efficient. Selection needs to be optimized in order to satisfy various business requirements and maximize the generated revenue. The final activity is performance evaluation of the direct marketing activities (Bose and Xi, 2008, p. 2).

2.2. Development of Direct Marketing

Direct marketing has developed rapidly over the last 15 years owing to technological change and developments in markets and marketing. In 1086, William the Conqueror created the Domesday Book as a record of what each individual owned. The concept developed by George Orwell in his 1984 novel was the one of more sinister surveillance by "Big Brother". Although marketing might not be seen in either light, it is certainly being manifested in a parallel manner at least. Personalized data are increasingly being integrated via data-fusion to form the next phase of database provision: biographic information (Evans, 1998, p. 56). Direct marketing is not new in concept. In Venice in 1498, Aldus Manutius published a book catalogue and William Lucas published a gardening catalogue in England in 1667. A variety of other mail order catalogues and clubs appeared, especially in Europe and the USA through the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries and in fact, there was a significant growth in the USA particularly during the 1800s because of the rising demand for goods from isolated communities which could be serviced by the improving distribution and postal systems (IDM, 1995). The mail order industry in Europe also grew on the basis, initially, of "savings clubs" (for example Christmas Clubs) and this was extended to credit availability, so major motivation in Europe revolved around financial considerations. The development of sophisticated credit referencing can be traced back to this era and it is a significant factor in the growth of current direct marketing, as it is explored later. Direct marketing has probably been the most significant development in marketing in recent years. It has contributed to the paradigm shift from transactional marketing based on the "marketing mix" approach created by Borden (1964) and popularised into the 4Ps by McCarthy (1960), to the notion of retention strategies within a relationship marketing context. There are several reasons for this change and they can be categorised either as "demand" for, or "supply" of direct marketing (Evans et al., 1996).

An increasing emphasis on leisure interests has led to more intense competition for consumer's time and attention. At the same time, the amount of advertising on TV, radio and press has grown to the extent that "clutter" is a real problem. Combined, these factors have contributed significantly to the reduction in the effectiveness of traditional media. However, the empirical research indicated that "clutter" may also be emerging as an increasing problem among the more heavily targeted groups (Evans et al., 1995, p. 17). Recession is in many ways responsible for growing concern among companies that marketing expenditure needed to show quantifiable returns (Uncles, 1994, p. 341). It was no longer acceptable to be unaware of which half of the money spent on advertising was wasted. Companies began to demand accountability. Direct marketing was able to accommodate this demand, and is thus "the one communications discipline which not just claims to be accountable but which can really answer the question: How much did we actually sell as a result of this activity?" (Young, 1993, p. 25). The direct marketing industry has been the fastest growing sector of marketing communications for more than a decade at the beginning of twentieth century (Key Note, 1994).

Demand-side factors are based on changes in market behaviour and also on changes in the effectiveness of traditional media. In terms of markets, it is clear that fragmentation has taken place. Markets have become demassified and this has been a major trend aiding the growth of direct marketing (Evans, 1998, p. 56). As a consequence, direct marketing has diversified. In the 1980s, there was a rapid growth of direct marketing in the financial service industry and the adoption of discipline across the whole business-to-business sector. Today, there are fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) companies, retailers, multi-national industrial conglomerates and successful dot-com companies; in fact every type of organization uses direct marketing to acquire and develop customers (Thomas and Housden, 2002, p. 2).

2.3. Benefits of Direct Marketing over Traditional Marketing

Direct marketing benefits customers in many ways. Home shopping can be fun, convenient, and hassle-free. It saves time and introduces consumers to a larger selection of merchandise and gives the option for comparative shopping by browsing through mail catalogues and online shopping services. Consumers can order goods for themselves or others. Business customers also benefit from learning about available products and services without losing excess time in meeting salespeople. Sellers benefit as well, since direct marketers can buy a mailing list containing names of almost any group: left-handed people, overweight people and millionaires. They can customize and personalize messages. Direct marketers can build a continuous relationship with each customer. The parents of a newborn baby will receive periodic mailings describing new clothes, toys, and other goods as the child grows (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 606).

Many initial stages that a marketer goes through are the same for general and direct marketing. Especially at the start of the process, the new product development is exactly the same in both cases. Continuing through the process, much of strategic thinking that needs to be done, for example matching strengths with market opportunities, should also be the same. Both marketing types use research methods although the relative emphasis is very different (Tapp, 2005, p. 10). However, direct marketing can be timed to reach prospects at the right moment and receive higher readership because it is sent to more interested prospects. It permits the testing of alternative media and messages in search of the most cost-effective approach. Direct marketing also makes the direct marketer's offer and strategy less visible to competitors. Furthermore, direct marketers can measure responses to their campaigns to decide which have been the most profitable. Direct marketers can use a number of channels to reach individual prospects and customers: direct mail, catalogue marketing, telemarketing, TV and other direct-response media, kiosk marketing, and e-marketing (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 606). Although the process of strategy setting is the same, the content of that strategy is likely to be different: direct marketing gives the marketer a choice of different strategies. Focusing on customers rather than products, segmenting according to how the company sees the value of customers, distributing directly to bypass retail: these are just some of the key areas (Tapp, 2005, p. 10). In other words, direct marketing can support all aspects of marketing process. It is not an alternative to marketing, but an integral part of it. If there is a difference between the two, it can be presented trough the fact that marketing tends to focus at the broader market level whilst direct marketing is focused more tightly at the individual level. It achieves this by using sophisticated information management techniques (Thomas and Housden, 2002, p. 6). The most obvious operational difference between the two methods is in the area of communications. General marketers tend to use mass media to build brands and use sales promotions in the retail environment. To compare with, direct marketers do sometimes use mass media when addressing new prospects, but only in order to get a response. They use personal media – direct mail, telemarketing – when developing a relationship with existing customers (Tapp, 2005, p. 10).

2.4. Direct Marketing Communication Channels

2.4.1. Telemarketing

Telemarketing is the use of telephone and call centres to attract prospects, sell to existing customers, and provide service by taking orders and answering questions. Telemarketing helps companies increase revenue, reduce selling costs, and improve customer satisfaction. Companies use call centres for inbound telemarketing (receiving calls from customers) and outbound telemarketing (initiating calls to prospects and customers). In fact, companies carry out four types of telemarketing (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 611):

- Telesales Taking orders from catalogues or ads and doing outbound calling. They can cross-sell the company's other products, upgrade orders, introduce new products, open new accounts, and reactivate former accounts.
- Telecoverage Calling customers to maintain and nurture key account relationships and give more attention to neglected accounts.
- Teleprospecting Generating and qualifying new leads for closure by another sales channel.
- Customer service and technical support Answering service and technical questions.

Telemarketing is used increasingly in business as well as in consumer marketing. It is improving with the use of videophones, and will increasingly replace, though never eliminate, more expensive field sales calls. An increasing number of salespeople have made five- and six-figure sales without ever meeting the customer face-to-face. Effective telemarketing depends on choosing the right telemarketers, training them well, and providing performance incentives (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 611).

2.4.2. Direct Mail

Direct mail marketing involves sending an offer, an announcement, a reminder, or other item to a person. By using highly selective mailing lists, direct marketers send out millions of mail pieces each year – letters, flyers, foldouts, and other media CDs or DVDs. Direct mail is a common medium because it permits selectivity to target market, can be personalized, is flexible, and allows early testing and response measurement. Although the cost per thousand people reached is higher than with mass media, the people reached are much better prospects. Direct mail may be paper-based and handled by the postal service, telegraphic services, or for-profit mail carriers. Alternatively, marketers may employ fax mail, e-mail, or voice mail to sell direct. Direct-mail marketing has passed through a number of stages, which imply the graduate transfer from more traditional ways of marketing (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 606):

- "Carpet bombing" Direct mailers gather or buy as many names as possible and send out a mass mailing. Usually the response rate is very low.
- Database marketing Direct marketers mine the database to identify prospects who would have the most interest in an offer.
- Interactive marketing Direct marketers include a telephone number and Web address, and offer to print coupons from the Web site. Recipients can contact the company with questions. The company uses the interaction as an opportunity to upsell, cross-sell, and deepen the relationship.
- Real-time personalized marketing Direct marketers know enough about each customer to customize and personalize the offer and message.
- Lifetime value marketing Direct marketers develop a plan for lifetime marketing to each valuable customer, based on knowledge of life events and transitions.

In constructing an effective direct-mail campaign, direct marketers must decide on their objectives, target markets, and prospects; offer elements, means of testing the campaign, and measures of campaign success. Most direct marketers aim to receive an order from prospects. A campaign's success is judged by the response rate. An order-response rate of 2 percent is normally considered good, although this number varies with product category and price. Direct mail can achieve other communication objectives as well, such as producing prospect leads, strengthening customer relationships, informing and educating customers, reminding customers of offers, and reinforcing recent customer purchase decisions (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 607). Direct marketers need to identify the characteristics of prospects and customers who are most able, willing, and ready to buy. Most direct marketers apply the R-F-M formula (recency, frequency, monetary amount) for rating and selecting customers. For any proposed offering, the company selects customers according to how much time has passed since their last purchase, how many times they have purchased, and how much they have spent since becoming a customer. Points are established for varying R-F-M levels, and each customer is scored. The higher the score, the more attractive the customer is. The mailing is sent only to the most attractive customers (Stone, 2007). Nash (1995) considers the offer strategy to be consisting of five elements – the product, the offer, the medium, the distribution method, and the creative strategy. Fortunately, all of these elements can be tested.

2.4.3. Catalogue Marketing

In catalogue marketing, companies may send full-line merchandise catalogues, specialty consumer catalogues, and business catalogues, usually in print form but sometimes also as CDs, videos, or online. Many direct marketers have discovered that combining catalogues and Web sites can be an effective way to sell. Thousands of small businesses also issue specialty catalogues. The success of the catalogue business depends on the company's ability to manage its customer lists carefully, so that there is little duplication or bad debts, to control its inventory carefully, to offer quality merchandise so that returns are low, and to project a distinctive image. Some companies distinguish their catalogues by adding literary or information features, sending swatches of materials, operating a special hot line to answer questions, sending gifts to their best customers, and donating a percentage of the profits to good causes. By putting their entire catalogues online, catalogue companies have better access to global consumers than ever before, and save considerable printing and mailing costs in the process (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 610).

2.4.4. Interactive Marketing

The newest channels for direct marketing are electronic. The Internet provides marketers and consumers with opportunities for much greater interaction and individualization. Companies in the past would send standard media – magazines, newsletters, and ads – to everyone. Today, these companies can send individualized content and consumers themselves can further individualize the content. Companies can interact and dialogue with much larger groups than ever in the past (Case, 2004, pp. 32-34). The exchange process in the age of information, however, has become increasingly customer-initiated and customer-controlled. Marketers and their representatives must wait until customers agree to participate in the exchange. Even after marketers enter the exchange process, customers define the rules of engagement and insulate themselves with the help of agents and intermediaries if they choose so. Customers define what information they need, what offerings they are interested in, and what prices are they willing to pay (Ansari and Mela, 2003, pp. 131-145).

Interactive marketing offers many unique benefits. It is highly accountable and its effects can be easily traced. The Web offers the advantage of "contextual placements". Marketers can buy ads from sites that are related to their offerings, as well as place advertising based on contextual keywords from online search outfits like Google. In that way, the Web can reach people when they have actually started the buying process. Light consumers of other media, especially television, can be reached. The Web is especially effective at reaching people during the day. Young, high-income, high-education customers' total online media consumption exceeds that of TV (Online Publisher's Association, 2002).

2.4.5. Other Communication Channels

Direct marketers use all the major media to make offers to potential buyers. Newspapers and magazines carry abundant print ads offering books, articles of clothing, appliances, vacations, and other goods and services that individuals can order by dialling a toll-free number. Radio ads present offers to listeners 24 hours a day.

Television is widely used by direct marketers in several ways (Edwards, 2001, pp. 14-19):

- Direct-response advertising Some companies prepare 30- and 60-minute infomercials that attempt to combine the sell of commercials with the draw of educational information and entertainment. Infomercials can be seen as a cross between a sales call and a television ad and cost roughly €150,000 to €300,000 to make. A number of people have become famous with late-night channel switchers. Increasingly, companies selling products that are complicated, technologically advanced, or simply require a great deal of explanation, are turning to infomercials. They share the product's story and benefits with millions of additional prospects at a cost-per-lead or cost-per-order that usually matches or beats direct mail or print ads.
- At-home shopping channels Some television channels are dedicated to selling goods and services. Viewers call in orders on a toll-free number and receive delivery within 48 hours. Millions of adults watch home shopping programs, and close to half of them buy merchandise.
- Videotext and interactive TV The consumer's TV set is linked with a seller's catalogue by cable or telephone lines. Consumers can place orders via a special keyboard device connected to the system. Much research is now going on to combine TV, telephones, and computers into interactive TV

2.5. Direct Marketing Today and Tomorrow

2.5.1. Consumers Perspective

Most mass marketing attempts have become adversarial; intrusive; threatening, and, even hostile. Consequently, in many ways, mass marketing is not evolving; it is devolving. Consider this: once, markets were places where producers and customers met face-to-face and engaged in conversations based on shared interests. Now more and more businesses are engaged in a grinding war of attrition with its markets. No wonder most mass marketing attempts fail (Thomas, 2007, p. 7). In fact, during an average day, a typical American is subjected to over 3,000 marketing messages. If we assume eight hours for sleep and personal maintenance, that leaves 16 hours to be inundated with pitches, sales, discounts, solicitations, and offers. This translates to over 180 per hour or more than three per minute. The bad side is also that almost everything that is being advertised is not even relevant to the lifes of the

people who are being reached. In a recent Yankelovich Partners study, nearly 80 percent of Americans felt "constantly bombarded" by radio and TV advertisements, billboards, pop-up ads, telemarketing calls, junk mail, spam, et al. Equally disheartening, more than two-thirds say all of this has little or nothing in common with them (Freedman, 2005, p. 76).

2.5.2. Marketers Perspective

In the past, many people were content to buy new, untried products and services, based only on the advice of a salesperson. Knowledgeable buyers were few and far between. Today's buyers are much better informed and much more selective. There are number of reasons for this (Thomas and Housden, 2002, p. 7):

- Choice In almost every field, there are more options available and more competitive prices offered to customers.
- More information available This started with "Which?" magazine but now there are many magazines in both consumer and business markets, carrying articles and features comparing the strengths and weaknesses of products available. Few people today would choose a new PC without first buying several magazines that carry product test reports and offer skilled advice.
- Greater pressure on consumer budgets Although most households tend to have more disposable income than they did 20 years ago, there is a greater range of goods that are now considered "essentials" few people would consider a television set and video recorder a luxury today. Business-to-business marketers discovered also that their customers experience greater pressure on costs than ever before, causing buyers of all types to be more selective.

The extraordinary growth of direct marketing is the result of many factors. Market demassification has resulted in an ever-increasing number of market niches. Higher costs of driving, traffic congestion, parking headaches, lack of time, shortage of retail sales help, and lines at checkout counters all encourage at-home shopping. Consumers appreciate toll-free phone numbers and Web sites available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and direct marketers' commitment to customer service. The growth of the next-day delivery via FedEx, UPS and Airborne has made ordering fast and easy. In addition, many chain stores have dropped slower-moving specialty items, creating an opportunity for direct marketers to promote these items to interested buyers. The growth of the Internet, e-mail, mobile phones, and fax machines has made product selection and ordering much simpler. A phenomenal growth in number and type of databases and lists being supplied has occurred as well. One estimate suggests (Tonks, 1990, p. 5) that there are in excess of 3,600 customer lists available on the market. Competition among the providers of such information has also increased to such an extent that more aggressive marketing is being used to attract user companies.

Today, marketing communications are increasingly regarded as an interactive dialogue between the company and its customers. To make the sale to customers, marketers must work

hard and smart. Companies must ask not only "How can we reach our customers?" but also, "How can our customers reach us?" Thanks to technological breakthroughs, people can now communicate through traditional media (newspapers, magazines, radio, telephone, television, billboards), as well as through computers, fax machines, cellular phones, pagers, and wireless appliances. By decreasing communications costs, new technologies have encouraged more companies to move from mass communication to more targeted communications and one-toone dialogue. But companies use their sales force also to provide a human touch to their marketing (Kotler and Keller, 2006, p. 603). The Direct Marketing Association (DMA) released a study indicating a significant growth and efficacy in the direct marketing industry through 2012. In 2012, the return on marketing investment is expected to be over \in 10 for every \in spent (Comer, 2008, p. 26).

2.5.3. European Legislation

Laws and self-regulation differ in Europe differ from country to country. Particularly sales promotion laws are extremely complex and evolve further. At this point, there is a lack of uniformity and thus direct marketers that wish to target an international audience must be aware of different rules that are specific to each country. Tapp (2005, p. 43) sees the most important legal constraints for direct marketers in the areas of data usage, sales promotions, and customer communications. The Data Protection Act guides the use of data through its eight principles. For international direct marketers, there are extremely complex diverse laws governing the use of sales promotions in each country.

This is an area where there is still much misunderstanding even among practitioners and those who seek to control direct marketing activities. The fact is that no sensible marketer would wish to alienate customers and prospects by abusing their trust. Nor would they want to waste money by writing to those who are not interested in a product or proposition. The main concerns arise over the use of "opt-out" or "opt-in" statements on enquiry forms. Some supporters of the high level of data protection would like all advertisers to use the "opt-in" option at all times. In this instance, the advertiser can only use the customer's name, address and other data when the customer positively opts in. To opt in, a customer must tick a box agreeing that he or she would like to receive information about other products and services (Thomas and Housden, 2002, p. 22).

3. Quality Management

3.1. What is Quality Management?

"Quality keeps customers by giving them the value they want; quality makes businesses succeed by delivering value; quality increases job satisfaction through our sense of accomplishment, of professionalism, and of service. The opposite of quality is error, and quality management is the effort to bring error under control and reduce error to acceptable levels" (Kemp, 2006, pp. XIII-XIV). Many studies across all industries have demonstrated that there is a cost and time ratio for planning:development:delivery of 1:10:100. This is called the 1:10:100 rule, and it states that each error will cost ten times more to fix in development than it would cost to fix in planning, and 100 times more if the error actually reaches the customer. In order to cope with this fact, quality management has much to offer.

Easton and Jarrell (1998), Hendricks and Singhal (1997) and Westlund (2001) claim, that quality management has become a ubiquitous practice in modern industry. In addition, it is becoming increasingly common in both the public and private service sector and its value for companies is escalating rapidly. Nevertheless, Bergqvist and Ramsing (1999) are pointing out that many initiatives to implement it fail. Often, quality management is merely seen as a number of techniques or methods. However, there are more profound aspects that need to be taken into account if quality management is to be employed successfully. Park Dahlgaard (1998, p. 47) argues that the fundamentals of quality management are based both on western management thought and on ancient eastern philosophies.

According to Juran (1989), the activities in companies that assure quality can be grouped in three processes: quality planning, quality control and quality improvement. These processes are all incorporated into various quality management methods that will be discussed in more detail in following chapters. If I start by naming few of the most common ones, it can be seen, that there are numerous methods from which company has to choose, going from standards like ISO, Quality Function Deployment, Kaizen, Zero Defect Program, Six Sigma, Quality Circle, Taguchi methods, Toyota Production System, Kansei Engineering, Total Quality Management, TRIZ, Business Process Reengineering, Shainin System and many others. However, the choice becomes much narrower if we consider the fact that either some are not suitable for the type of the organization, culture (many methods only correspond to operating in Far East environments) we are operating in, industry, as well as the specific nature of problems we are assessing. Not to mention the fact that the majority of methods are simply the continuation or evolution of the previous ones, with some additions and minor changes.

Chart 2 shows a comprehensive scheme of how quality management can be implemented through customer relations and technical development as a baseline related to time. It also shows all important phases and how these phases are linked to each other.



Chart 2: A high level view of the end-to-end process of quality management

Source: Kemp, 2006, p. 46

It has to be clear that generalization should be avoided, since each method has its own approach and tools, which are used to achieve quality. Exact processes and connections between them for the chosen method will be presented in the designated chapter.

Nowadays, more and more attention is paid to statistically supported methods, from which the following three are most frequently assessed through the literature that covers quality management. Firstly, Shainin System is mainly a problem solving methodology. Its applicability is limited to projects that seek to identify the (one or very few) root causes of a problem. It is not suitable for studying a more complex system of influence factors and modelling their effects onto the critical-to-quality (CTO). The improvements have the form of corrective action against disturbances or adjustment of tolerances, whereas improvement patterns as robust design and adjustment of the mean are underemphasised. Secondly, Taguchi's off-line quality control method that includes the strategy for quality engineering in three stages (system design, parameter design and tolerance design) exploits powerful improvement patterns. The methodology falls short in the exploration phase, for which it provides only limited guidance, and also in the focus on picking optimal settings (as opposed to gaining insight in the system) is debatable. Thirdly, Six Sigma's breakthrough cookbook is the most complete statistical improvement strategy. It could be improved by systematising the guidance provided for the exploration phase. Moreover, it should incorporate more adventurous and fallibilistic attitude that fits experimenters (de Mast, 2004, pp. 211-212). Six Sigma incorporates large amount of other methods, since it is based entirely on TQM, with statistic support and useful techniques of other methods added. Another fact that speaks in favour of Six Sigma is that it is extremely appropriate for service and business-to-business environments. The benefits from the possibility of applying this method in such environment will be shown in the following chapters.

3.2. Development of Quality Management

After the review of available literature, the development of quality management as we know it today can be observed through three breaking points or major contributions of the three authors. As already mentioned, for the most part, modern quality management methods are not entirely different ways of working, but they are evolutions of original theories, which started in 1911, when Frederick Winslow Taylor's "Principles of Scientific Management" were first published. Even the ideas of most modern methods as Six Sigma can be simply traced to their origins to almost 100-year-old principles of Taylor. Kemp suggests (2006, pp. 28-29) that scientific management is the direct predecessor of all quality management and further explains that Taylor's key ideas can be summarized in two points:

- The scientific method can be used to define, and then to continuously improve the best tools and methods for doing any job.
- Changing an organization's way of working requires principled management that makes the situation better for both management and workers. A slow, careful method must be followed so that management and workers work together towards common goals, and conflict is eliminated, rather than triggered, by the change in work process.

The second breaking point is the work of Walter Shewart and the start of statistical quality control, which is present in almost all of the modern methods of quality management. Shewart was an engineer working at the Western Electric from 1918. In 1924, he joined Bell Labs, where he introduced statistical quality control. Shewhart also developed PDCA (Kemp, 2006), a simple application of a scientific method that anyone can apply. In general, we can plan work that solves a problem, do that work, check to see if we got the results we wanted, and then use what we learned. This can apply to trying to meet customer specifications and also to solving any other type of quality, effectiveness, or efficiency problem. While PDCA can apply to both general efforts to improve quality and more technical engineering improvements, statistical quality control is the core of the more advanced engineering side of quality management (p. 32). As seen from Chart 3, Shamsuddin and Hassan (2003, p. 798) also propose an innovative scheme for application of Shewart's PDCA technique.



Chart 3: Application of PDCA technique

Source: Shamsuddin and Hassan, 2003, p.798

The third breaking point is the work of William Edwards Deming (further developed by Joseph Moses Juran and Philip Bayard Crosby). He popularized and advanced Shewhart's work, and contributed significantly to it. In cooperation with Japanese scientists, engineers, and industrial leaders, he pioneered the development of Total Quality Management (TQM) as we know it today. TQM is discussed further in following writing, since it has a completely separate chapter within this thesis owing to its importance.

Given the popularity of quality programmes in organizations today, one would anticipate that a research on quality would be quite prolific. However, for a variety of reasons, this is not the case. One important reason is the origin of the quality construct. The study in the area of quality management has taken a very convoluted path, when observed from the research perspective. The foundations of quality management were laid by Deming (1986), Juran (1988), Crosby (1984) and others, who advocated the use of statistics to control variation in the manufacturing process. This approach was expanded to address improvement issues in other areas of the organization. These quality "gurus" have been prolific in writing how-to books in improving quality. Consulting groups have sprung up nationwide to facilitate the implementation of quality programmes. The Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award with its specific criteria for evaluating organizational quality has been used as a guideline for many organizations. This evolution is not typical of traditional organizational research issue. As a result, many organizational researchers have ignored the behavioural side of quality phenomenon. Since quality was first studied via statistical control of the manufacturing process, its study was relegated primarily to those in operations research. Operation researchers have provided some valuable insights into the degree of the implementation of quality programmes (Ebrahimpour, 1988; Modaress and Ansari, 1989; Ross and Georgoff, 1991), as well as instrument and theory development. However, the issues of organizational behaviour (for example, top management commitment and the impact of organizational change) receive only cursory attention in this research.

3.3. Most Important Contributions to Quality Management

3.3.1. Total Quality Management

Total Quality Management (TQM) was the first method to successfully implement the ideas of Taylor and Shewhart in more than one company at a time. It is the most central defining method in quality management. TQM is the father of all the following quality management methods and standards, including Six Sigma and ISO 9000 (Kemp, 2006, p. 177). One of the most striking features of TQM literature is the absence of any uniform definition of Total Quality Management. Lawler (1994) observed that "there is no single theoretical formulation of the Total Quality Management approach nor any definitive short list of practices that are associated with it" (p. 68). Harai (1993) believed this uncertainty of the nomenclature of TQM is a problem in and of itself; "given the fact that there is a multitude of definitions, theories and programs in the public domain, it is difficult to specify exactly what TQM is" (p. 31). Chart 4, however, gives a clear presentation what all the TQM incorporates and how broad it is, which is one of the reasons for the lack of uniformity.





Source: Hellsten and Klefsjö, 2000, p. 242

The TQM should be viewed as a management system consisting of three interdependent components: values, techniques and tools. Techniques and tools support the values and together they form a whole (Hellsten and Klefsjö, 2000, p. 243).

Furthermore, in a narrower sense, the TQM may be defined as "a continuous quest for excellence by creating the right skills and attitudes in people to make prevention of defects possible and satisfy customers/users totally at all times". The TQM is an organization-wide activity that has to reach every individual within an organization. The TQM is regarded as an integration of various processes characterizing the behavioural dynamics of an organization. For this reason, an organization is referred to as a total system (socio-technical), where all the activities carried out are geared towards meeting the requirements of customers with efficiency and effectiveness. The TQM has been based on the quest for progress and continual improvement in the areas of cost, reliability, quality, innovative efficiency and business effectiveness (Lakhe and Mohanty, 1994, pp. 9-10). Chart 5 gives an overview of the key elements of the TQM philosophy and all the supporting elements that have to be present in order to achieve efficient implementation.





Source: Berk and Berk, 1993, p. 8

The TQM philosophy offers many benefits to organisations that adopt it. The chief benefits of attributable to the TQM include (Walsh et al., 2002, p. 301) the elimination of defects, reduced scrap and rework, reduced level of cost, increased levels of efficiency and productivity and increase in employee morale and motivation.

The whole concept of the TQM is based on and guided by Deming's 14 points for management (Deming, 1986, pp. 23-24):

- 1. Create constancy of purpose toward improvement of product and service, with the aim to become competitive and to stay in business, and to provide jobs.
- 2. Adopt the new philosophy. We are in a new economic age. Western management must awaken to the challenge, must learn their responsibilities, and take on leadership for change.
- 3. Cease dependence on inspection to achieve quality. Eliminate the need for inspection on a mass basis by building quality into the product in the first place.
- 4. End the practice of awarding business on the basis of price tag. Instead, minimize total cost. Move toward a single supplier for any one item, on a long-term relationship of loyalty and trust.
- 5. Improve constantly and forever the system of production and service, to improve quality and productivity, and thus constantly decrease costs.
- 6. Institute training on the job.
- 7. Institute leadership. The aim of supervision should be to help people and machines and gadgets to do a better job. Supervision of management is in need of overhaul, as well as supervision of production workers.
- 8. Drive out fear, so that everyone may work effectively for the company.
- 9. Break down barriers between departments. People in research, design, sales, and production must work as a team, to foresee problems of production and in use that may be encountered with the product or service.
- 10. Eliminate slogans, exhortations, and targets for the work force asking for zero defects and new levels of productivity. Such exhortations only create adversarial relationships, as the bulk of the causes of low quality and low productivity belong to the system and thus lie beyond the power of the work force.
- 11. Eliminate work standards (quotas) on the factory floor. Substitute leadership. Eliminate management by objective. Eliminate management by numbers, numerical goals. Substitute leadership.
- 12. Remove barriers that rob the hourly worker of his right to pride of workmanship. The responsibility of supervisors must be changed from sheer numbers to quality. Remove barriers that rob people in management and in engineering of their right to pride of workmanship. This means, inter alia, abolishment of the annual or merit rating and of management by objective.
- 13. Institute a vigorous program of education and self-improvement.
- 14. Put everybody in the company to work to accomplish the transformation. The transformation is everybody's job.

An effective TQM programme stems from an important and logical progression of thoughts and actions. One must first ensure a clear understanding of the organization's vision and attendant goals. Next, one must clarify a philosophy of the TQM that is consistent with and supportive of the pursuit of the organization's goals. The philosophy and subsequent plan of action for the TQM must clearly delineate priorities and responsibilities. Priorities must be succinct and clear to the extent they compel the desired allocation of resources by those working to attain the organization's vision. To assure the TQM in the steps towards and attainment of the organization's vision, it is essential that one cast the TQM philosophy, goals, and actions in terms of attaining the desired vision for an organization (Groth, 1995, p. 58)

Understanding processes so that they can be improved by means of systematic approach requires knowledge of seven basic quality control tools, which are used in problem identification. These tools are largely quantitative and help answer the questions associated with them (Karuppusami and Gandhinathan, 2006, p. 372):

- Process flowcharting What is done?
- Pareto analysis Which are the big problems?
- Cause and effect analysis What causes the problem?
- Histograms What does the variation look like?
- Check sheets/tally sheets How often does it occur?
- Scatter diagrams What are the relationships between factors?
- Control charts Which variations are to be controlled and how?

Comparative techniques such as benchmarking can help identify the relative success of the TQM activities. The measurement of techniques may help to highlight root causes of poor performance in organisations and can suggest solutions which can eliminate these root causes (Walsh et al., 2002, p. 300)

3.3.2. Quality Standards and Awards

International Organization for Standardization introduced the ISO 9000 series of quality management and quality assurance standards in 1987 (ISO 9000:1987). The series, which is currently called ISO 9001:2000, includes three models for quality assurance (ISO 9001, ISO 9002 and ISO 9003) combined together, guidelines for quality management (ISO 9004), and two supporting documents: ISO 9000 Guidelines for Model's Selection and Use and ISO 8402 Quality Vocabulary (Karapetrovic, 1999, p. 81). A technical committee has started its review on the next version, which is expected to be entitled ISO 9001:2008, assuming its planned release date is set. To comply with the ISO 9000 standard, a company must set up its own internal Quality System that basically ensures three things (Kemp, 2006, p. 193):

- A focus on quality defined as customer satisfaction and meeting customer requirements.
- That company does what it says and says what it does, and is able to prove it.
- That company uses PDCA for correction of problems.

Meeting ISO 9000 requirements is like doing the first year of Deming's five-year approach to transformation through TQM. Key elements are top-down commitment, company-wide training, and employment of PDCA first to bring production under control of inspection or statistical analysis, and then to improve any and all parts of our organization (Kemp, 2006, p. 196). ISO 9000, an international standard for quality systems, has gained worldwide acceptance since its introduction. The standard requires a company seeking ISO certification to pass a stringent, independent, third party audit. Although the certification process is lengthy and the documentation extensive, ISO 9000 provides substantial benefits in terms of, for example, higher customer satisfaction, smoother operations and lower costs, higher quality and productivity (Motwani et al., 1996, p. 83). There are also numerous industry specific standards available, out of which the ones for automotive industry are very well spread.

National quality awards (NQAs) are means by which countries promote quality awareness at the national level. In the short history of the development of the NQAs, three awards have played a key role in the quality revolution in Japan, Western Europe and the USA. They are the Deming Prize, the European Quality Award, and the Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award (Tan, 2002, p. 165). The design of the NQAs is to promote quality awareness, understand the requirements for quality excellence, and share information on successful strategies and their benefits. The NQAs typically contain from seven to ten examination criteria and further 20 to 30 sub-criteria. The awards are made yearly for only the best-run organizations. They are a nation's highest accolade for achievements in the best quality management practices (Tan, 2002, p. 166).

The Deming Prize is given to companies that have achieved distinctive performance through the application of the CWQC (Company Wide Quality Control based on statistical quality control techniques). The company's performance on the application of the CWQC is evaluated through two examinations, the document examination and the on-site examination. Examination results are scored. Each of the ten examination items carries ten points (Bohoris, 1995, pp. 32-33). Unlike the European Quality Award and the Baldrige Award, the Deming Prize is not competitive. Any number of companies meeting the criteria of achieved number of certain points may be awarded the prize in any one year (Ghobadian and Woo, 1996, p. 17).

According to the Baldrige criteria, the award promotes: awareness of quality as an increasingly important element in productivity and competitiveness, understanding of the requirements for quality excellence, and sharing of information on successful quality strategies and the benefits derived from implementing these strategies. The Baldrige Award annually recognizes up to six companies in each of three different categories (manufacturing, small business and services). To enter the Baldrige competition, a firm must conduct an internal assessment and submit a report describing their quality management systems (Loomba and Johansen, 1997, p. 63). Applicants are evaluated in the following areas (Kemp, 2006, p. 201): leadership, strategic planning, customer and market focus, measurement,

analysis, knowledge management, human resource management, process management and business results.



Chart 6: Baldrige Award framework

Source: Brown, 2008, p. 49

The examination process of European Quality Award (EQA) consists of three main sections namely initial assessment, site visits, and final review and decision. The award assessment criteria have nine categories, which are divided into two groups: results and enablers. In other words, the award assesses how the customer and people satisfaction impact on society. Business results are achieved through leadership, people management, policy and strategy, resources and processes. Business results, including the company's achievement in its

financial and non-financial objectives, are vital to the company's success so it is the next most highly scored criterion (Bohoris, 1995, pp. 32-33).



Chart 7: EQA framework

Source: Ghobadian and Woo, 1996, p. 19

3.4. Quality in Services

The term "quality" means a different thing to different people. Defining quality is therefore often the first step when assessing improvements. To begin with, it is hard to establish a common understanding of quality especially in services. There are numerous definitions available that try to define quality from completely different perspectives going from psychology to economics. However, the majority of definitions of quality from service perspective fall in the category of customer driven factors. The summary of more than twenty available definitions of different authors can be described as: "consistently meeting or exceeding customer's expectations" (Ghobadian et al., 1994, p. 50).

A service is intangible. Thus, purchaser cannot judge its quality or value prior to purchase and consumption. It is evident throughout the quality literature that the employee's role is significant in the quality of manufactured products but in services, the employee's role and behaviour take on even greater importance (Dotchin and Oakland, 1994, p.28). Many authors argue that in a service setting, customers judge quality by comparing their perceptions of what they receive with their expectations of what they should receive. Both expectations and perceptions are experiential sensations rather than necessarily being real.

Even though there have been efforts to study service quality, there has been no general agreement on the measurement of concept. The majority of the work to date has attempted to use the SERVQUAL or gaps model (Parasuraman et al., 1985) methodology in effort to measure service quality.


Chart 8: Model of service quality gaps

Source: Shahin, 2004, p. 3

Chart 8 shows Shahin's interpretation of Parasurman's SERVQUAL or gap model that presents 7 major gaps between customer's expectations and management perception (Gap 1), management perception and service specifications (Gap 2), service specifications and service delivery (Gap 3), service delivery and external communication (Gap 4), discrepancy between customer expectations and their perception of service delivered (Gap 5), discrepancy between customer expectations and employee's perceptions (Gap 6) and discrepancy between employee's perceptions and management perceptions (Gap 7). Model measures the gaps by using SERVQUAL questionnaires which are further explained in the case study and available in Appendix 1.

Furthermore, customers and service quality can be managed and assessed efficiently. This process proves to be difficult, but it can help greatly in order to build a better competitive position in the direct marketing industry and improve the performance of the whole organization (Lewis and Booms, 1983, p. 100). Grönroos (1984), Parasuraman et al. (1988) and Teas (1993) provide extensive literature on this topic as well. Their work deals with this

subject to such an extent, that it offers certain correlation coefficients for other related factors. It has also been discovered that there are certain linkages between service quality and performance of the organization, however, this fact has not been investigated to the final extent (Thorpe, 1994, p. 160). PIMS database further indicates that service with higher quality results in improvements of market share (Buzzell and Gale, 1987). It can be applied the same for linkages between customer retention and market share (Rust and Zahorik, 1993, p. 197). To sum up, managerial perspective suggests that investment in service quality and building and maintenance of customer relationships can only be justified if they result in improved profitability (Rust and Zahorik, 1993, p. 214).

3.4.1. Quality Management in Services

The key role of services in the developed economies of the world is well recognized. The importance of quality to the competitiveness and effectiveness of these services is also broadly accepted. Quality management initiatives in service companies have been an ongoing effort. These initiatives have met with considerable success in some companies, and have been less successful in others. Theories, concepts and frameworks adopted by service firms have typically been those advocated by Deming, Juran and other quality experts, as well as the practical frameworks of quality awards such as the Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award, the Deming Prize and the European Quality Award (Behara and Gundersen, 2001, p. 584). Companies fail to provide any industry-specific explanations of the state of their TQM implementation due to the fact that TQM is truly generic. Under varied environmental conditions, the TQM tools and procedures may vary, but the underlying concepts apply equally to both manufacturing and service companies. Despite the dissimilar nature of manufacturing and service industries, they face similar problems in realizing the full benefits of TQM. Therefore, solutions to these problems will also be similar (Huq and Stolen, 1998, pp. 159-160).

3.4.2. Business-to-business Specific Environment

Quality for the company refers to the benefits which contribute to the customer company's organizational goals and well-being in a holistic sense. Organizational goals are typically rational, and the wellbeing generated by quality for the company typically goes beyond one individual in the organization, in other words it has a more holistic nature. Quality for the company typically refers to benefits which contribute to the customer company's business and course of action, and to several individuals' well-being in the organization (Ojasalo, 2004, p. 170). When the buyer is a company, an organization, the major problem is to identify the individual or individuals, inside or outside the customer company, whose opinion or judgment can be called "quality for the company" (Ojasalo, 2004, p. 172). Defining the needs of business customers and selling to them is slightly more straightforward than when selling to consumers. The value to a business is the one that improves the bottom line. First goal is to answer these questions (Kemp, 2006, p.61):

- How does our product or service improve the customer's bottom line?
- What roles or job titles define the decision makers in the selection of this product or service?
- What are the key factors in the decision? If there were direct competition, what would make us better? If there is not, how can we demonstrate to our customers the value of what we do?

4. Six Sigma

4.1. What is Six Sigma?

In 1986, the concept of Six Sigma was introduced by Bill Smith, a senior engineer and scientist within Motorola's communication named Division in response to problems associated with high warranty claims. Today, Six Sigma has evolved from a mere measurement of quality to an overall business improvement strategy for a large number of companies around the world (Antony, 2006, p. 234).

The Six Sigma terminology arises from the relationship between the variation in a process or operation and the customer requirements associated with that process. In normal distribution the largest concentration of values is around the mean (average), and tails off symmetrically. In Chart 9, the distance between the centre line and the inflection point (where the curve starts to flatten out) is known as sigma (σ), the standard deviation. Sixty-eight percent of data falls within one standard deviation above or below the mean, 95% within 2 σ , and 99% within 3 σ . So the range from -3 σ to +3 σ represents 99% of the data (George, 2003, 25).





Source: George, 2003, p. 25

The Six Sigma performance is less than 3.4 defective parts for every 1.0 million parts produced. It could also mean only one defect for every 250,000 systems transactions or only one human error or mistake out of every 250,000 decisions made (Elliot, 2004, p. 201). The further explanation of all 6 sigma stages and defects per units of measure is shown in Table 1.

Sigma value	Range (in sigma)	Unit of measure	Part under the curve and between the lines	Part outside the range (both sides)
In quality management			Defect-free per unit	Defects per unit of
			of measure	measure
1	-1 to +1	Percent	68.27%	31.73%
2	-2 to +2	Percent	95.45%	4.55%
3	-3 to +3	Percent	99.75%	0.25%
4	-4 to +4	Per million	999.936.66	63.34%
4.5	-4.5 to +4.5	Per million	999.993.20	6.80
5	-5 to +5	Per million	999.999.43	0.57
6	-6 to +6	Per million	999.999.998.03	1.97

Table 1: Sigma values and percentages of the sample

Source: Kemp, 2006, p. 148

Like the TQM, Six Sigma is formed on certain principles that are the basis and guidelines in order to achieve successful implementation of the method (Kemp, 2006, pp. 209-210):

- Senior executive support.
- Top-down training As in any quality management improvement effort, the need for training must be evaluated, and enough resources provided.
- Include the voice of the customer This is a reminder to make sure that improvements really benefit the customer so that we avoid meaningless change or change that goes in the wrong direction because it is based on what we think the customer wants.
- Create an infrastructure to support success The organization will need a structure that integrates Six Sigma methods into processes and allows discoveries through the Six Sigma analysis to lead to process change.
- Develop short-term projects with specific goals This is perhaps Six Sigma's most significant innovation. While some TQM companies naturally discovered the value of setting goals and deadlines, the project-oriented approach became a specific component of Six Sigma. Projects can have both minimum goals and stretch targets that motivate the team to think outside the box.
- Focus on process improvement Just because Six Sigma uses projects to achieve results, this does not mean that the end of the project is the end of improvement. Project definition is often based on the evaluation of the process identifying measurable elements that are critical to quality (CTQ). Project results are usually internal changes – process improvements that should be maintained by ongoing Six Sigma quality control.
- Clear and consistent methodology Although there are many variations of Six Sigma, a very consistent approach must be developed by each business.

- Decisions based on fact and data Six Sigma reasserts the importance of an empirical basis for decisions, just like every quality management movement since Taylor's from 1911.
- Focus on people and processes Six Sigma realizes that company's team is a corporate asset and it needs to invest in and that team can only benefit the company if it can improve processes by defining CTQ elements that make changes to quality, time, or cost in business processes, products, services, and the bottom line.

Six Sigma is clearly about being the very best one can be. It is about developing an organization-wide passion to excel, built on foundation of profound knowledge. It is about a culture that can only be incubated in an atmosphere of full involvement, knowledge and trust. It can only grow to maturity in a cultural environment of data integrity, intellectual honesty, commitment to technical knowledge process discipline, and a deep and abiding faith in personal and professional value and capability of one's colleagues (Elliot, 2004, p. 205). Six Sigma is a technique that shows how far away from the mean or average a process measurement deviates. Each time the deviation is minimized or eliminated, it is translated as "opportunity" and the reverse is known as a "defect", referred to in many literatures as defects per million opportunities (DPMO) (Thevin, 2004, p. 196).

4.2. Six Sigma in Services

Although many big service-oriented companies have embraced them, the Six Sigma applications in the service sector are still limited (Antony, 2006, p. 234). Service-oriented companies adopting Six Sigma will have the following benefits (Antony, 2006, pp. 237-238):

- Effective management decisions owing to heavy reliance on data and facts instead of gut-feelings and hunches. Hence, costs associated with fire-fighting and misdirected problem solving efforts with no structured or disciplined methodology could be significantly reduced.
- Increased understanding of customer needs and expectations, especially the critical-toquality service performance characteristics, which will have the greatest impact on customer satisfaction and loyalty.
- Efficient and reliable internal operations, leading to greater market share and satisfied shareholders.
- Improved knowledge across the organisation on various tools and techniques for problem solving, leading to greater job satisfaction for employees.
- Reduced number of non-value added operations through systematic elimination, leading to faster delivery of service.
- Reduced variability in service performance, leading to more predictable and consistent level of service.

- Transformation of organisational culture from reactive to proactive thinking or mindset.
- Improved cross-functional teamwork across the entire organisation.

4.3. Organizational Readiness for Six Sigma

Hensley and Kathryn (2005, p. 88) argue that because Six Sigma programs rely on measuring the process, the companies that already have such system in place are more fitting. Consideration of whether the company already has a quality program established or whether service processes are being measured, puts companies in one of the four quadrants.

 Quality Programs
 Established
 III
 IV

 Not Established
 I
 II
 II

 Not Measured
 Neasured
 Neasured

 Service Processes
 Service Processes

Chart 10: Matrix for evaluation of Six Sigma readiness

Source: Hensley and Kathryn, 2005, p. 88

Organizations in quadrant I do not measure their processes nor have quality program established. Meanwhile, organizations in quadrant II are already measuring processes, but do not have established any quality improvement process. Organizations in quadrants III and IV have both successfully established quality improvement programs, however, those in quadrant IV have also developed measures of processes while those in quadrant III have not.

Organizations in quadrants I and II (without established quality programs) may have to expend the time and effort to develop quality improvement orientation within the company if it does not exist already. If attempts at quality improvement programs are made, then the organization must work to understand its history in regards to those attempts. Has the organization tried every new program that came along and failed at all of them? Has the company attempted to establish a program recently? How is it working? In short, the company must be willing to make an honest assessment of reasons explaining why they have had problems in establishing a quality improvement program (Hensley and Kathryn, 2005, p. 89).

4.4. Company Prerequisites

Six Sigma is the application of the scientific method to the design and operation of management systems and business processes that enable employees to deliver the greatest value to customers and owners. The scientific method works as follows (Pyzdek, 2003, p. 6):

- 1. Observe some important aspect of the marketplace or your business.
- 2. Develop a tentative explanation, or hypothesis, consistent with your observations.
- 3. Based on your hypothesis, make predictions.
- 4. Test your predictions by conducting experiments or making further careful observations. Record your observations. Modify your hypothesis based on the new facts. If variation exists, use statistical tools to help you separate signal from noise.
- 5. Repeat steps 3 and 4 until there are no discrepancies between the hypothesis and the results from experiments or observations.

The Six Sigma deployment is the actual creation of an organization that embodies the Six Sigma philosophy, an example of such deployment can be seen in Appendix 2. Crucial things that have to be assured within the company before implementing Six Sigma vary greatly through available literature, but can be roughly summed up in following four categories: management involvement, cultural change, infrastructure and training, and connection to business strategy. After the full implementation of the Six Sigma philosophy, the available literature also discusses that there should be a change in attitude towards suppliers and demanders, but this is a whole another topic.

4.4.1. Management Involvement

Any successful initiative like Six Sigma requires top management involvement and provision of appropriate resources and training. Senior managers in the organization must be taught the underlying principles of Six Sigma. Without continuous support and commitment from top management, the true importance of the initiative will be in doubt (Antony and Banuelas, 2002a, p. 21). Six Sigma involves changing major business value streams that cut across organizational barriers. It provides the means by which the organization's strategic goals are to be achieved. This effort cannot be lead by anyone other than the CEO, who is responsible for the performance of the organization as a whole. Six Sigma must be implemented from the top down. Six Sigma has a zero chance of success when implemented without leadership from the top because of the Six Sigma's focus on cross-functional, even enterprise-wide processes. Six Sigma is not about local improvements, which are only possible when top-level support is lacking (Pyzdek, 2003, p. 28)

4.4.2. Cultural Change

Six Sigma is considered to be a breakthrough management strategy, because it involves adjustments to the firm's values and culture for its introduction. It also involves substantial change in organization structure and infrastructure (Antony and Banuelas, 2002, p. 93). A successful introduction and implementation of Six Sigma requires adjustments to the culture of organization and change in attitudes of the employees. Employees have to be motivated and accept responsibility for the quality of their work (Antony and Banuelas, 2002a, p. 21). The blending of the Six Sigma concept into the organization's culture could result in unique acknowledgement of some of tangible factors that could give the organization competitive edge and superiority. It will also enable the organization to be cognizant of some of the intangible factors that are intrinsic, thus creating unique value to the organization that is irreplaceable by others (Thevnin, 2004, p. 199). Two of the most common means of assessing organization culture is a focus group and a written questionnaire. Because of the sensitive nature of cultural assessment, anonymity is usually necessary. Pyzdek believes that it is necessary for each organization to develop its own set of questions. This involves selecting a small representative sample (n \approx 20) from the group you wish to survey and asking open ended questions, such as: "Which of our organization's beliefs, traditions and practices have a beneficial impact on quality?", "Which of our organization's beliefs, traditions and practices have a detrimental impact on quality?" (Pyzdek, 2003, p. 27).

4.4.3. Infrastructure and Training

In addition to top management, there are also needs to have an effective organizational infrastructure in place to support the Six Sigma introduction and development program within the organisation. The Six Sigma initiatives are led by the CEO or vice-president, who is considered as a Six Sigma champion (Antony and Banuelas, 2002a, p. 22). Six Sigma makes improvement and change the full-time job of a small but critical percentage of the organization's personnel. These full-time change agents are the catalyst that institutionalizes change (Pyzdek, 2003, p. 26). The belt system must be applied throughout the company starting with top management and should be cascaded down through the organizational hierarchy (Antony and Banuelas, 2002, p. 95). More information about the complex belt system of responsibilities and roles is available in Appendix 3. The training required to implement Six Sigma involves everyone in the organization. The basic training lasts one day and covers process mapping, overview of designed experiments, hypothesis testing, metrics, and process modelling. Green belt training is more extensive and includes a week of statistical analysis, SPC, and measurement systems analysis. The black belt training requires about one month of training comprising ANOVA, game theory, and multivariate regression (Raisinghani, 2005, p. 493). Communication systems are among the first things that need to be changed so people know what to make of the new way of doing things (Pyzdek, 2003, p.12). The implementation of Six Sigma in any organization is at first disruptive because it requires not only the buy in of senior management, but also an active role of management in project definition and resource allocation. It requires also an extensive training of some of the best people in the organization with the understanding that their role will be 100 per cent devoted to deployment of Six Sigma activities. The heart of these activities presents projects that have been defined as critical paths or breakthrough goals that affect the bottom line of an organization (Raisinghani, 2005, p. 493).

Changes require new behaviour from everyone involved. However, four specific roles commonly appear during the most successful change processes (Hutton, 1994, pp. 2-4):

- Official change agent An officially designated person who has the primary responsibility for helping management plan and manage the change process (sometimes called champions).
- Sponsors Sponsors are senior leaders with the formal authority to legitimize the change. The sponsor turns the change a goal for the organization and ensures that resources are assigned to accomplish it. No major change is possible without committed and suitably placed sponsors.
- Advocate An advocate for change is someone who sees a need for change and sets out to initiate the process by convincing suitable sponsors. This is a selling role. Advocates often provide the sponsor with guidance and advice. Advocates may or may not hold powerful positions in the organization.
- Informal change agent Persons other than the official change agent who voluntarily help plan and manage the change process. While the contribution of these people is extremely important, it is generally not sufficient to cause truly significant, organization-wide change.

Chart 11: position of roles within a typical organizational hierarchy



Source: Hutton, 1994, p. 4

4.4.4. Six Sigma, Business Strategy, Mission and Vision

The Six sigma projects must be targeted for process and product improvement that have a direct impact on both financial and operational goals. Even if the first efforts focus fairly on narrow problems, their impact on the whole business should be clear. Since the goal of every company is to make profits, it should be extended to other operations as well. In every single project, the link between the project and the business strategy should be identified. It should also demonstrate in money figures, in the benefit of the project in financial terms and in the way in which it will help business strategy (Antony and Banuelas, 2002, pp. 95-96). The Success of Six Sigma in an organization also depends on the management leadership style and how it is blended into the organization's management strategy (Thevnin, 2004, p. 199).



Chart 12: Suggested way of implementation of Six Sigma as a strategy

Source: Thevnin, 2004, p. 199

4.5. Six Sigma Project Selection

The essence of Six Sigma is to solve problems that impact business performance. Nevertheless, before a problem can be solved or performance improved, both the problem and the goal have to be defined correctly. In other words, the focus of the Six Sigma project has to be specified, which is a very important task, that is sometimes, if done correctly, already a half of work to be done in improvement process. In order to generate ideas for finding the problem, the company can start by examining one of the following external or internal sources as proposed by Pande et al. (2000, p. 141):

External sources:

- voice of the customer,
- voice of the market,
- comparison with competitors.

Internal sources:

- voice of the process,
- voice of the employee.

If information on savings and cost of each potential Six Sigma project is available, more advanced methods for project choice can be used as well. One of them is called Pareto Priority Index or PPI. Projects with highest PPI are the best choice and should be company's priority when choosing Six Sigma projects.

PPI =
$$\frac{savings * probability of success}{cost * time to completion (years)}$$

Pande et al. (2000, p. 146) suggests three fields of criteria that company should investigate:

- results or business benefits criteria,
- feasibility criteria,
- organizational impact criteria.

4.6. DMAIC Methodology

As a problem solving methodology or process improvement framework, Six Sigma strategy makes use of a series of well-defined steps. This includes definition of the problem (D), measurement (M) of the problem (i.e. defects which are responsible for the problem), data analysis (A) to discover the root causes of the problem (i.e. analysis of defects), improvement (I) of processes to remove the root causes of defects and controlling (C) or monitoring processes to prevent the perennial problem. The Six Sigma methodology for service processes is shown in Chart 13 on the following page (Antony, 2006, p. 239). The DMAIC is the core of Six Sigma and is only a minor modification of the PDCA by its nature. When a new process is being implemented, the DFSS or Design for Six Sigma, which is specially adopted procedure to suit needs of new products or services, is being used.



Chart 13: Six Sigma methodology for service processes

Source: Antony, 2006, p. 239

The DMAIC methodology is discussed and explained further in the following chapters and an implementation simulation is provided in the case study as well.

4.6.1. Defining Phase

All customer requirements are not equally important and not all of them are accounted as a defect when not achieved. A model that is commonly being used in order to analyze requirements is called Kano model (based on the work of Noriaki Kano, a Japanese engineer and consultant), which divides customer requirements into three categories (Pande et al., 2000, p. 193):

- Dissatisfiers or basic requirements (basic quality) these are factors, features, or performance standards that customers absolutely expect to be met.
- Satisfiers or variable requirements (expected quality) the better or worse you perform on these requirements, the higher or lower your rating from customers will be.
- Delighters or latent requirements (exciting quality) these are features or factors that go beyond what customers expect, or that target needs no one else has addressed.

Pyzdek (2003, p. 119) provides a comprehensive presentation of Kano model, which examines all these three groups in a graph depending on the level of quality on one axis and the level of satisfaction on the other.





Source: Pyzdek, 2003, p. 119

4.6.2. Measurement Phase

Excluding the costs of training, measuring is usually the biggest cost that company bears when implementing Six Sigma. However, a long-term measurement system represents a key building block for full organizational Six Sigma system. In order to avoid the measurement of everything possible and the state of being oversaturated with numbers, only the factors that are valuable and feasible to measure are the ones to focus on. Usually, performance gaps are a good starting point to begin with measuring.

As already mentioned, the Six Sigma measurement focuses on tracking and reducing defects in a process. The measurement of defects has many positive sides in sense of simplicity, consistency and comparability. Defects can be identified and measured with following indicators.

Proportion defective refers to the fraction or percentage of item samples that had one or more defects:

$$proportion \ defective = \frac{number \ of \ defective \ units}{number \ of \ units}$$

Final yield tells what fraction of the total units produced or delivered was defect-free:

final yield $(Y_{final}) = 1 - proportion defective$

Defects per unit (DPU) reflect the average number of defects over total number of units sampled:

$$defects \ per \ unit \ (DPU) = \frac{number \ of \ defects}{number \ of \ units}$$

Defect per opportunity (DPO) is similar to the DPU with addition of leverage for comparing less and more complex services, since in more complex services, there are a larger number of opportunities for defect (complexity is transferred into more opportunities for defects):

$$defects \ per \ opportunity \ or \ DPO = \frac{number \ of \ defects}{number \ of \ units * number \ of \ opportunities}$$

Defect per million opportunities (DPMO) expresses the proportion of defects over the total number of opportunities in a group:

defects per million opportunities
$$(DPMO) = DPO * 1,000,000 (10^6)$$

Chart 15 shows relations between defects per million opportunities and sigma level, which is presented as a convex downward sloping curve.





These measures can be applied to each sub process in order to find the rate of rework within each sub process and make it easier to locate the problem. The rework is usually done within each department and in the end it does not result as a defect, but can unnecessarily use resources.

Another important measure is the cost of poor quality (COPQ), which is used to compare Six Sigma projects running at same or similar sigma levels. The fundamental principle of the COPQ is that any costs that would not have been expended if quality were perfect are the cost of quality. Each project can cause higher costs lost to defects, which makes it a higher priority problem. This measure is considered to be extremely important, but it will not be assessed further, since it exceeds the intentions of the case study provided in further chapters. Therefore, it is only important to understand the value of this method. To sum up, in practice, it is always a good idea to include it in the analysis if several projects are compared or if costs of reaching goals are in question. It gives a simple baseline that helps evaluate which project will be more cost effective and whether project is profitable in the long run.





Source: Pyzdek, 2003, p. 6

Chart 16 shows how costs are correlated to the sigma level and provides a clear image of how error rate drops exponentially when the sigma level increases. The relation between Six Sigma project costs and costs of failure are explained further in Chart 17 on the following page.



Chart 17: Model of optimal quality costs

Source: Pyzdek, 2003, p. 222

4.6.3. Analysis Phase

There are two types of analysis required in order to get a clear view of the problem. Data analysis defines factors that suggest possible causes to the problem, while process analysis gives a better understanding how the work is done. Combining these two strategies, root causes can be identified successfully.

Data perspective is assessed by applying the tool that is being used in order to provide a list of potential causes, which is called Cause and Effect diagram or sometimes just simply Fishbone diagram which was first implemented by Kaoru Ishikawa (that is why it is also being referred to as Ishikawa diagram in literature). The diagram will group the causes by categories that describe certain factors. Typically, in order to describe business processes, the following six factors are used: material, method, machine, measures, Mother Nature and people.

Process perspective and process mapping is among the most essential tools for Six Sigma. Rectangles in the graph present series of tasks along with diamonds showing decisions and all of them are connected in order to show the flow of the process. By doing this analysis, disconnects (points where requirements were poorly communicated), bottlenecks (points where volume overwhelms capacity), redundancies (repeated activities that can be abandoned), rework loops (places where work is being passed back in order to correct it) and decisions (points in the process where choices are made) can be revised.

Root causes can be defined as the most basic reason behind an effect. Six Sigma uses a mathematical approach by using the following equation:

Y = f(X)

Root causes are noted as X and therefore independent variable, while results are noted as Y and therefore a dependant variable. Pande et al. (2000, p. 256) suggest the usage of the root cause analysis cycle in order to provide hypothesis. Whenever the hypothesis is not correct, we can go back and refine it as presented in Chart 18.

Chart 18: Root cause analysis cycle



Source: Pande et al., 2000, p. 256

4.6.4. Improvement Phase

The improvement phase is a segment that defines where solutions and ideas may be generated and ruled on. Once a problem has been successfully identified, measured, and analyzed for potential solutions, the results can be evaluated to solve the problem (Six Sigma SPC, 2008). During the improve step of the Six Sigma approach, ideas and solutions are put to work. The Six Sigma Black Belt has discovered and validated all known root causes for the existing opportunity. The Six Sigma approach requires Black Belts to identify solutions. Few ideas or opportunities are perfected to the extent that they achieve an instant success. As a part of the Six Sigma approach, there must be checks to assure that the desired results are being achieved. Some experiments and trials may be required in order to find the best solution. When making trials and experiments, it is important that all project associates understand that these are trials and that they really are a part of the Six Sigma approach (Adams Six Sigma, 2008). The sole purpose of improvement phase is to make changes in a process that will eliminate the defects, waste, costs, etc., that are linked to the customer need identified in a team's define stage. Common tools and strategies that can be found referenced in any discussion of the improve phase of DMAIC are solution matrices that link brainstormed solution alternatives to customer needs and the project purpose, and methods for implementing desired solutions (George, 2003, p. 292). The improvement phase of the methodology encompasses the following issues (Antony, 2006, p. 240):

- Develop potential solutions to fix the problems and prevent them from recurring.
- Evaluate the impact of each potential solution using a criteria-decision matrix.
- Solutions that have a high impact on customer satisfaction and bottom-line savings to the organisation need to be examined to determine how much time, effort and capital will need to be expended for implementation.
- Assess risks associated with potential solutions.
- Validate improvement (i.e. reduce defect rate or improve sigma quality level of the process) by pilot studies.
- Re-evaluate the impact of chosen potential solution.

4.6.5. Control Phase

Once improvement opportunities have been implemented, control phase continues by measuring the process using SPC (statistical process control) to trace and confirm the stability of the implemented improvements and the expected results in the process (Six Sigma SPC's, 2008). Many people believe the best performance you can ever get from a process is at the very beginning. Over time, it is expected that things worsen slowly until it is finally the time for another major effort towards improvement. On the contrary, the Kaizen approach seeks to make everything incrementally better on a continuous basis. The sum of all these incremental improvements can be quite large. As a part of the Six Sigma approach performance tracking mechanisms and measurements are in place to assure, at a minimum, that the gains made in the project are not lost over a period of time. As a part of the control step, we encourage sharing with others in the organization. In this way, the Six Sigma approach really starts to create phenomenal returns; ideas and projects in one part of the organization are translated in a very rapid fashion to implementation in another part of the organization (Adams Six Sigma, 2008). The purpose of control phase is to make sure that any gains made will be preserved, until and unless new knowledge and data show that there is an even better way to operate the process. The team must address how to hand-off what they learned to the process owner, and ensure that everyone working on the process is trained in using any new, documented procedures. Six areas of control are critical in service environments (George, 2003, pp. 303-304):

- Making sure the improved process is documented (and that documentation is used regularly).
- Turning results into dollars (validated by the finance department).
- Maintenance of gains is verified down the road.
- An automatic monitoring system is installed which will identify "out of control" performance.
- Piloting the implementation.
- Developing a control plan.

5. Linea Directa Communications

5.1. Company Description

Linea Directa Communications is a part of the Studio Moderna Group, which specializes in multi-territorial direct marketing solutions (contact centres, fulfilment houses) across the entire CEE region. The Studio Moderna company was established in 1995 as a full-service direct marketing communication agency.

In 2006, there was a spin-off out of which LDC was established as a separate company. The reason for the spin-off was the tendency for providing and developing the best direct marketing services and this is why LDC is supposed to specialize in those services. One of the reasons for the spin-off was that potential partners were disturbed by the Studio Moderna brands that are not so highly appreciated in some countries. From this point of view, the separation of LDC presents a fresh start for the company.

Ever since the company has served successfully a broad range of clients across various vertical markets not only to design and manage marketing databases, but also to develop and execute personalized campaigns (B2B, B2C) using telemarketing, postal mail and internet across multiple channels. The core competency of the company is to create and build valuable customer relationships through a variety of cross-border database-driven communication activities in the CEE region. LDC helps the client to find the best possible audience for their commercial message or campaign and to establish a "direct line" with their most valuable asset - customers.

The company has contact centre operations in 19 countries across the CEE region. This allows them to help a client to identify and reach customers and prospects in their own language at their place of work or at home. The company considers itself not only as a provider of direct marketing services, but also as a partner who shares responsibility for success. Company's organization structure on the local level can be observed in Appendix 4.

5.2. Mission, Vision and Values

5.2.1. Company's Mission

Linea Directa Communications mission statement is "Everybody can provide products and technology these days, but not everybody can offer the perfect solution for your business success. Through complete dedication and understanding of our customers and markets we are fully committed to offering a direct marketing service that is unmatched anywhere in the world".

Company promises consistent development of their clients' business nationally as well as internationally at all times by providing the highest standards of quality and service in their field of work. LDC is planning to fulfil its mission by finding, involving and developing potential long-term - employees - knowledge workers.

5.2.2. Company's Vision

The LDC is planning to work continuously on occupying the leading role in professional services for a broad range of clients across various vertical markets; not only to design and manage marketing databases, but mainly to develop and execute personalized campaigns using telemarketing, postal mail and internet across multiple channels.

Linea Directa Communications promises to improve business of every marketer and increase the customer base in order to reach customers faster, keep them longer and make them more profitable. The company has expertise in finding these customers, in establishing an interaction with them and in fine-tuning the profile of every single customer. They promise to raise the number of clients, so that they will be able to take advantage of new sales opportunities and to express their commercial messages more effectively.

The company plans to continue with the growth and to expand multinational network of offices in 19 different countries in Central and Eastern Europe. The company intends to exceed an impressive market of over 450 million consumers and continue with this path.

5.2.3. Company Values

The company's values are promoted together with service values. The following model represents the company's values:

- flexibility (being able to deal with any situation),
- responsibility (details generated by great results),
- synergy (1+1=11, up/down/left/right/all around),
- trust& reliability (mutual reliability),
- profitability (short & long-term & sustainability),
- quality (IN & OUT & services & relationship),
- innovation (instead of innovate how, find new what).

5.3. Business Strategy

Linea Directa Communications business strategy is to remain the market leader in the field. To accomplish this, it strives to achieve the desired results and prompt and timely delivery of quality service at the lowest cost in the entire CEE region. Their work consists of:

- bearing the responsibility for results,
- reducing the costs of the clients and increasing the revenues,
- helping clients to take advantage of new sales opportunities,
- helping clients in Central and Eastern Europe to cease unpredictable marketing campaigns,
- combining experience gained from the West with localized approach.

5.4. Services

Database Management

In direct communications, campaign is no better than the database it possesses.

Data Entry

Data lab hosts an expert team of data-entry and response handlers. The continual use of reference databases guarantees the highest quality of service.

Data Cleaning and Verification

Keeping the list up-to-date is a challenge as more than 20 million people across the CEE region move every year, change their addresses (and usually their phone numbers). People change their e-mail addresses even more often, at a rate of 30% per year. This poses a considerable challenge for marketers in every industry. Company's data lab offers verification services that detect and eliminate duplicates and correct postal addresses, phone numbers and e-mail addresses.

Database Hosting and Maintenance

If a customer wants to stay focused on marketing rather than on details of their database, data lab offers system administration services, which are vital to the maintenance of marketing databases. A highly qualified team of database professionals manages system administration requirements either at customers' company sites, or within data lab facility.

Data Lab

Successful direct marketing programs rely on accurate targeting. Data lab runs programs that identify and investigate the profile of each different customer. Through an accurate targeting, the company ensures multi-channel programs that create connections and drive responses. Clients are provided with the most complete and accurate information about their customers. Using the in-house analysis and segmentation techniques data lab can identify the most valuable addresses for customer campaigns. Data lab experts help clients by compiling the majority of their lists with proprietary processing that sharpens response and cuts postage and printing waste. Detailed reporting and improved market insight helps clients to improve their lists continually and, finally, to make their campaign budgets go further.

List Broking and Selection

Partnering with list providers across the whole region allows LDC to complete any kind of B2C and B2B list according to client needs.

Profiling & Research

As markets expand and competition and communication channels increase, clients need to be able to keep track of current market trends and developments. LDC can gather this data for clients, enabling them to use it in order to obtain more insight about their business. This is done by using company's various direct communication tools and mapping of clients current channel partners. With this knowledge, the "rising stars" can be identified as well as the fading ones in order to allow clients to approach them pro-actively.

Lead Generation

Lead Generation is not a new part of the process, however, it has a new approach. With company's data knowledge and direct communication tools it is able to select the most effective way of expanding the target group of their clients. Conversion rates on leads have a higher conversion success rate than "cold" contacts because the prospect is pre-qualified before the lead is ever received.

Customer Acquisition Programs

The company is ready to help client's sales team at every stage of the sales process: from profiling and qualifying leads to closing the deals; from invitations to events to developing and maintaining the customer relationship (handle correspondence). Precise targeting enables LDC to find clients most positive leads and the best customers for up-sell and cross-sell. Detailed reporting and improved market insight helps a company to improve its client list continuously. LDC does not focus only on supporting sales but also on building the size and quality of client's database.

Multi-channel Business Partner Programs

The importance of using well-defined criteria for identifying, qualifying, and recruiting business partners cannot be overstated. Linea Directa Communications works with clients to clarify their goals and rank the desired competencies they are seeking in potential new business partners in order to:

- understand specific recruitment goals and criteria for success,
- define compelling program benefits, product positioning and messaging,
- translate business partner program benefits into telemarketing scripts and outbound email messaging,
- acquire business partner prospect lists and define prospects that align to specific objectives,
- train the Linea Directa Communications telemarketing sales team about clients business partner programs and objectives,
- establish metrics and reports for benchmarking the recruitment campaign performance.

Customer Value Growth Programs

It is known that it is more than 80% more expensive to attract a new customer than to keep an existing one. This is why it is so crucial to invest appropriately in existing clients and enticing the new ones at the same time, and thus allowing business to expand continually.

Response Generation

Communication programs are aimed at getting the maximum response through different communication channels (postal, web, phone). This requires accurate targeting and engaging content. Dialogues and promotional communication materials are focused on how the best individual customer and call for their action can be motivated.

Customer Care Programs

In today's relationship, marketing is not sufficient for tracking experiences of customers and learning about them. It is about enriching every interaction with customers:

- welcome calls,
- helpdesk,
- customer service setup support,
- complete customer care,
- complaint handling,
- win-back programs.

Navigator

The Navigator program is a list creation and a sampling tool, which is currently running in Hungary. This medium reaches 60,000 students in their natural environment directly. At the start of each year, welcome-bags are distributed to university students in all university towns. Because of attractive sampling methods, a company is able to acquire fresh and accurate data about this extremely large and important target group. Responses contain key data such as email, addresses, mobile info, and also information about their lifestyle and shopping habits. Clients can participate in the sampling, but also rent the data at a later stage to follow-up with tailor-made interactive campaigns.

Inbound Communications

Within 19 customer management centres, LDC manages all of client's incoming communications – by telephone, email, Internet or fax – from customer care to cross- and upselling.

Outbound Communications & Telemarketing

Linea Directa Communications design and implement all kinds of Telemarketing services: from customer profiling and lead generation to sales conversion. Company provides appointment scheduling, customer retention, win-back programs, and loyalty programs. Agents are trained to sell. They are well informed and fully aware of the importance and value of polite, courteous, convincing dialogue in order to reduce costs of acquisition and increase brand loyalty. The multi-lingual solutions that are provided are quick, efficient and reliable. The scale of operation, structure, staffing and technology allows LDC to develop, adjust & change activities fast according to client's needs. Across the CEE region LDC has well-established state-of-the-art CMC operations:

- over 700 well-trained, highly motivated, sales-oriented agents,
- multi-lingual solutions,
- native speakers in 19 countries,
- pools of West-European languages (French, Italian, German),
- the latest equipment including IVR, CTI, SMS-server,
- customized uniform CRM software,
- facilities for mobile and email marketing.

Territorial advantage enables LDC to standardize the quality of communication services across every country and region as a whole. This results in a significant reduction of risks and costs for clients. It also allows faster campaign implementation and response handling.

Letter-shop and Pick & Pack

Across the entire CEE region (19 countries), the company possesses warehousing facilities. The system is designed to maximize the accuracy of mailings and the quality of goods delivery. This enables LDC to serve their clients with personalized mailings, multiple message insertion, order execution, inventory management, home delivery facilities and postbox services (return handling). Clients enjoy a complete mail engineering solution, including mail file preparation and address standardization for improved delivery and bottom-line savings.

Payment Processing

All across the region, payment-processing services are provided to suit market demands: from cash on delivery to credit card payments; from direct debit to payments through instalment plans.

Creative Services

The primary focus for creativity is to produce measurable results and guarantee the ROI. This is why LDC specializes in producing copy and design that sells.

In order to achieve company's goals, the company decided to work on creating values that suit their services and that services are and will be primarily based on:

- results coming from devotion of employees,
- quality of work and client expectations,
- focus on flexibility coming from "can do culture".

These values can be resembled in the following statements, so that the employees can easily identify their attitudes with the service values:

- I am a part of the worldwide team and I am continuing to build a success story.
- I have a will and am ready to change, transform my behaviour, knowledge in order to add value to my work.
- I am involved in the planning of the work that affects me.
- I create a work environment of teamwork and lateral service so that the needs of our customers/clients and each other are meet.
- I have the opportunity to learn and grow continuously.
- I build and create strong relationship with colleagues and our existing and potential customers/clients.
- I seek opportunities to innovate and improve existing experience continuously.

6. A Case Study – Implementation of Six Sigma in Linea Directa Communications

The case study will provide a general overview on how Six Sigma can be used in LDC in form of a project. A simulation of implementation of the first three steps (define, measure and analyze) of the chosen project will be provided in order to prove it can be done successfully. However, for any real implications about how the company would react and what would the results show, a real implementation is needed. Firstly, organizational readiness will be discussed and after that, the project choice will be presented. All remaining issues including the philosophy of the company, which are essential before any attempt of the Six Sigma implementation, were already covered in the Six Sigma chapter from theoretical point of view. Most information that will be used is based on real data acquired from the company, while the parts that require actual implementation will only be estimated. Furthermore, the analysis will be limited to the field of profiling actions, as the company offers a wide variety of services (see chapter 5.4.), which can be customized additionally and which can consist of several completely different departments using different procedures. Furthermore, there is absolutely no option of making a systematic analysis of such broad field with such a vast amount of variables. By limiting the field of analysis, better and more specific results, which are not based on certain generalizations, can be expected.

6.1. Organizational Readiness

LDC falls into the second quadrant (see Chart 10, p. 33) of Hensley's and Kathryn's matrix for the evaluation of Six Sigma where readiness, meaning, service processes are being measured, but there is no established ongoing quality improvement program. Thus in the company, there are numerous efforts present to improve the quality, but they have not been formalized. Establishing the Six Sigma program in LDC would be extremely difficult if company did not measure service processes. However, company's work is supported by the software, what presents important advantage. This simply means that the majority of actions is recorded in a form of database, which gives a good starting point for the implementation of Six Sigma. There have been numerous measures developed in order to control specific important points mostly in call centres that cover all marketing actions including profiling, which will be assessed further. These measures are called Key Performance Indicators (KPI's) and are based on certain criteria and calculated automatically. These indicators are used also in order to make a monthly comparison of the countries within the system. A list of all KPI's currently used in LDC can be seen in Appendix 5, where their definition, metric and description are present as well. The company's efforts to improve quality can be greatly observed not only from these indicators but also from the structure of strategy, mission, vision, company values, and service values.

LDC uses the CRM software called CRM Cat Pro, which functions as an intermediate between an agent or any other user, and the database behind it. The system is connected to all main activities and is based on SQL database with a predefined structure. Furthermore, there is a possibility to develop any kind of measurement system that is tied to any of the factors that occurred, since logs of literally all events are available in the database. Such reports are created for different projects on a daily basis. A problem occurs when processes cannot be measured without presence of a person. These are the best potential Six Sigma projects, since currently, there is no working system established that could show which are the root causes of problems, eliminate them and control variations in the future. An example of this type will be provided in the following chapters in order to prove that implementation of quality management is possible with the use of systematic sampling and Six Sigma. To sum up, the company has a great potential for the implementation of Six Sigma from the matrix perspective. A better option would be quadrant IV, which would only require an adoption of a new quality management system from the company.

The main problem of the KPI's is that they have been developed on certain prepositions that are not necessary suitable for the work of every country in the system. In some cases, this results in incomparability of outcome between countries due to different processes. On the other hand, indicators themselves are very well structured and cover a broad spectre of processes. As seen from the Appendix 5, the KPI's take certain variables from the system and present indicators. Different processes can completely exclude one of these variables in one country, which can cause zero value of a certain KPI, for example values of Inbound, Outbound, Supervising, etc.: the KPI's where zero or small value could be often observed. Simply, some countries refused to insert activities properly, which automatically means that indicators will show wrong and incomparable values. Situation has improved dramatically in the past months, since numbers are being constantly monitored. However, a great problem occurs due to the fact that error is discovered only when something appears to be really wrong or one country's KPI differs greatly from all the others. On the other hand, one of the KPI's could show wrong values deviating only by few percent, which could never be discovered. The only option that remains is to know the work processes of each country as good as possible in order to assess the meaning of KPI's in each country. The other problem is that countries used to calculate all these indicators by themselves using their own methods, what, naturally, lead to results that could be used to perform analysis on the local level only. The company devotes a great deal of effort to minimize the described problems by standardization process. Every variable that can be standardized is unified in every country, what will eventually result in uncompromisable possibilities of comparison. So far, categories like call statuses, activities and many others, have been completely standardized, which has already showed results in accurate KPI's connected to these factors. It is logical to expect that KPI's will improve its value through standardization, but the problem of variables that cannot be standardized will remain in the end. Imposing standards and changing the way of work, which functions very well in a certain culture completely, can have strong negative effects.

Therefore, a mild approach to such categories is suggested, still, it can be concluded, that the company is already doing its best.

Additional issue is that provided KPI's are used generally for all activities and are not developed for a specific service like profiling. This should be considered as an important issue since different services have to be assessed differently. Recently, a step has been taken in that direction with proposition of four KPI's for profiling specifically, which include:

- number of calls (attempts),
- talk time,
- number of fulfilled questionnaires,
- % of answered questions.

It is evident that mentioned KPI's cover the profiling action very broadly. Quality of conversation is one of the things that is not being covered at all. What should be done and how it can be done will be showed in the following chapters of case study, where idea of KPI's is merged with form of dialogue quality evaluation (example of evaluation form is also available in Appendix 6).

6.2. Project Selection

In the context of services offered by LDC, project selection process is about inspecting the current situation and indentifying problems. All current problems present a potential situation for the Six Sigma projects. In order to define the right improvement project for Six Sigma, external and internal sources of problems have to be assessed. In each company, there are various potential projects, but for the purposes of this thesis, only one example will be made. There is practically no limit to the number of projects running simultaneously. The only guidance is to stay within controllable scope.

There are a few problems that can be discovered when using multiple sources, but the intention of this case study is providing a clear image of how Six Sigma can be implemented in to one of the direct marketing processes that LDC offers. In order to avoid problems that would appear when there is a need of acquiring specific data that would require measurement and an actual launch of Six Sigma implementation to produce results, the only reasonable option is to simplify the process slightly.

As already explained (see p. 38), there are numerous external and internal sources that can be examined in order to assess which project would be the most suitable for LDC. Naturally, in order to get the best possible choice, all of them should be evaluated. For the purpose of this analysis, only the most important, which is the voice of customers, will be used. The first choice to get insight of customer's expectations and factors of dissatisfaction would logically

be the results obtained from customer satisfaction surveys. While examining the current situation in the company, I came across with the fact that customer satisfaction questionnaires were prepared in the past, but have never been used. Furthermore, there was absolutely no information available on customer satisfaction in a written form.

Since company is missing a large opportunity to detect customer's needs, I developed a new questionnaire, which will be implemented for all future projects. The new questionnaire mostly covers already existing categories while adding a few new ones and adopting to suit well-known service quality system requirements. The questionnaire is developed using SERVQUAL (system for quality of services) categories such as reliability, assurance, tangibles, empathy and responsiveness, which give further possibilities for research (example of SERVQUAL questionnaire can be seen in Appendix 1). Fortunately, there was another option of gaining voice of the customer insight available. In order to review current customer satisfaction for purpose of analysis, an alternative in form of an interview with International Sales Manager was conducted, asking them to point out customer expectations, reactions and complaints before and after the profiling projects. On the one hand, this method is much simpler than the process of acquiring and analyzing questionnaires, while on the other hand it offers much less accurate results as they are based on perception of an individual. However, all the explanations were summed up in the groups that give a comprehensive picture of causes for dissatisfaction of customers. Comments to each group were added in order to provide a clear picture of the situation. Some factors cannot be affected by the company and were therefore removed. Results of the interview are presented below.

Customer expectations with profiling can be summed up in six simple categories:

- Customer expects an extremely high ratio of profiled records Expectations sometimes reach numbers up to 90% of all records profiled within the given database. It is almost impossible to reach such ratios from the practical perspective, since databases can be either old, inaccurate, or people may be unwilling to cooperate. Reasonable numbers can reach around 30%, while a very small amount of this percentage can be affected by agents work.
- Customer expects that deadline will be respected Deadline is agreed upon with sales department. Dates are set in the project preparation phase. It can be affected by wrongly planned durations of each action required to complete the project.
- Customer expects a different final report with much broader analysis, explanations and agent comments If not agreed differently, customers are only given the database with enriched information. In order to avoid this, customers should have either a clear picture about the final output or a report should be standardized in order to make it a necessity for each project. In my opinion, second option is much better.
- Customer expects professional and high quality dialogues Many times, agents present themselves as client company representatives. That is why this makes it a clear and understandable expectation, since quality of dialogue can affect the client company image.

- Customer expects high quality and reliability of acquired information It is reasonable to expect that information provided in results is actually the information acquired from conversations. However, as it happens sometimes, agents push customers to certain directions or choose the wrong answer within the software.
- Customer expects that costs will not increase in comparison to planned costs It might happen that the evaluation of costs for the project is too low, current technology does not meet all the requirements and has to be upgraded or any other situation, which can have an incremental effect on the costs.

Additional expectations:

• Customers expect company's consultants to help them using the acquired information in order to generate results

Calculations on savings and costs for managing of the problems mentioned above are not available, probably also due to the absence of the questionnaire results and therefore not emphasized results. If the same problems were confirmed from the results of questionnaire, the leadership of LDC would unarguably require the mentioned savings and cost calculations for each situation. On the basis of such financial information, LDC would be able to determine exactly, which of these situations is the best potential for the Six Sigma project, using the PPI formula.

Numerous other methods could be used in real business situation, such as the theory of constraints, which focuses on project determination taking in consideration current resource constraints, or methods like critical chain project portfolio management. Furthermore, with the availability of full financial information, NPV and break-even point could be calculated as well, which gives further criteria for making decisions. The use of the mixture of previously mentioned sources would give more precise results, but would require extensive work and actual implementation. We can presume, that question "Where are we falling short in meeting customer's needs in profiling actions?" was answered by: "Customer dissatisfaction is most visible in relation to quality of data". It will be assessed as the main problem in the company at this point and will therefore be transformed into Six Sigma project, which will serve as an example.

The Six Sigma project that will be discussed through the case passes all the other qualifications, which suggest that problem should present a gap between a current and desired performance, that the cause of the problem is not clearly understood (there are some general views on how it could be improved, which proves insufficient in order to make large improvements) and, finally, that the solution for the problem is not predetermined or with other words, optimal solution is not apparent. As already mentioned, the majority of probable Six Sigma projects does not pass these criteria, since almost everything is measurable and therefore root causes are identified easily. There are many factors that affect the quality of the output in profiling actions, so there is never a simple and clear solution to what is causing the

specific problem. A fact is that most of the influencing factors change for each specific project that company does, and therefore it is hard to generalize solutions.

Project is further evaluated with additional criteria for the selection. There are endless lists of possible criteria available throughout the literature. Of course, not all of them should be used, since it is important to adopt criteria in order to use only the factors suitable to LDC. There are certain interests in the company that should be used as guidance for the selection of appropriate project. The best projects usually meet company's current needs, capabilities and objectives. From the factors in the Table 2, impact on customers, impact on core competencies and financial impact belong to the field of results or business benefits criteria, while resources needed correspond to feasibility criteria and learning benefits to organizational impact criteria. Selection criteria were chosen on the basis of experience throughout working with the company.

Selection criteria	Final effect		
Impact on customers	Increased customer satisfaction (brand image)		
Impact on core competencies	Strengthened core competencies		
Financial impact	Increased number of clients leads to increased profit		
Resources needed	Complete attention of few employees with additional		
	consultants		
Learning benefits	Adaptation of Six Sigma and simplified application of the		
	methodology in the future		

Table 2: 5 most important criteria for confirmation of Six Sigma project in LDC (estimation)

Source: Own

The list of criteria can be adopted each time in order to present the criteria, for which answers to all potential Six Sigma projects can be provided easily. Criteria should also be changed in order to reflect the company's current interests.

6.3. Defining Processes and Customer Requirements

6.3.1. Identifying the Major Core Processes

Each company has a number of essential processes. They are usually identified by the fact that they add value to the customer. Even though processes can vary from project to project, in LDC, five core processes can be defined for the majority of the services it offers:

- project preparation,
- development,
- agent training,

- execution,
- analysis and report preparation.

Briefly, in profiling project, the preparation phase includes all documentation and planning of capabilities, the development phase includes database preparation and script development as well as importing of the database, agent training, and the execution includes actual calling of people in database and inserting of acquired information, which is finalized by the analysis of results and report preparation. A detailed presentation of processes follows in further charts (see Chart 21, p. 68), where general processes above can be identified easily.

6.3.2. Defining the Key Outputs of the Core Processes

Each core process has its outputs that can be internal (within the company) or external (for final customer):

- In project preparation phase, a project implementation manual is prepared including all the important information about the project, conversation script, and guidelines for agent training and other information.
- Development phase includes preparation of database, implementation of script into CRM system and importing the prepared database. If there is need for the latter, reporting services are developed in order to help Project Managers track the project.
- Agent training provides agents with all necessary information about the project and the product. All conversations are trained and further explained from the content perspective. Important points are highlighted. Rewarding system is presented to agents in order to motivate them.
- Execution phase includes calling records in database and filling out scripts that were entered into the CRM system.
- Analysis and report preparation phase includes the preparation of an enriched database for the client as well as the preparation of the final report.

6.3.3. High-level Core Process Map

In order to provide a diagram for all the major activities that are a part of core process, a map will be presented. A SIPOC (Supplier, Input, Process, Output and Customer) diagram is used to make an overview of business in process perspective. The SIPOC diagram displays a cross-functional set of activities of LDC in a single diagram, uses a framework applicable to processes of all sizes, and helps to maintain a larger perspective with possibility to add details. Below, a SIPOC analysis and map is provided for the process of profiling when the client provides its own database of records for profiling (processes slightly differ when LDC supplies the client with its own database which is further explained in chapter about gathering customer data).



Chart 19: SIPOC analysis and map for profiling



The diagram represents, what is the input of LDC's client, how it is transformed through the profiling process and what is the final output that returns to the client. At the bottom, the process flow is presented. It is also seen from the diagram, which teams are included in the process and what are their outputs, which serve as inputs for further processing with another department. The diagram gives a clear picture of inputs and outputs, while also explaining who is accountable for them.

6.3.4. Gathering Customer Data

There are many methods that are used in order to gain information about customers spreading from surveys, focus groups, interviews, formalized complaint system, market research, shopper programs, to more modern ones like customer scorecards, data warehousing and mining, and quality function deployment. At the moment, an extensive survey is being conducted using company's own call centre capabilities in order to gain customer information. However, the project will last quite some time, so results cannot be included into the thesis. At this point, information will be acquired from the A.T. Kearney's (strategy consultants) strategic workshop for Linea Directa Communications made in 2007.

Information about customers is relatively scarce and will be assessed in general. All further information will be additionally enriched by results of an interview with International Sales Manager.

Target groups for direct marketing services (profiling included) of Linea Directa communications are (A.T. Kearney, 2007, p. 34):

- automotive industry,
- publishers,
- financial institutions,
- telecommunications,
- utilities,
- government.

It is apparent from the research that call centre outsourcing will have doubled by 2010. The direct marketing market is growing rapidly in CEE, while companies increase their budgets for direct marketing as well, which further implies that LDC should focus on acquiring new customers (A.T. Kearney, 2007, p. 34), which has already been emphasized under the selection criteria for the Six Sigma project.

What customers expect from profiling service is usually a certain database of their (potential) customers with all specified information. Clients specify exactly what they are looking for in the project preparation phase, so scripts are prepared accordingly (sample of the script can be seen in Appendix 7). There are two options with profiling projects, one is that client provides LDC with a list or database of customers, which only needs to be enriched with additional information. The other option is that the clients specify which their target group is and then LDC provides them with the database using techniques known as data mining. In both cases, clients expect a certain percentage of database enriched with required information. Since situations are different in form of how much influence LDC has on the results, only first option will be researched throughout the case. The majority of databases processed recently were provided by clients. Company has no influence on the quality of the database itself and therefore these factors will be neglected from the research point of view of this case.

6.3.5. Developing Performance Standards and Requirements

In order to be able to measure actual performance and assess strategy, output and service requirements are defined. Output requirements are features of the service that are delivered to the customer. To start the process, output or service situation has to be determined. This can be observed easily from the previously created SIPOC diagram, where the last output is the report and the enriched database for the client of LDC. Clients will usually be the final users of the information for its own purposes and will be corresponding to one of target groups of clients already mentioned. In order to develop clear requirements, all information presented

above, which base on the interview with International Sales Manager, as well as A.T. Kearney' workshop will be used. In continuation of the process, all expectations and complaints have to be combined into something observable in order to define a clear performance standard. Usually, it can be done in form of a statement. While summing up all six points of customer expectations and company's values and service values, this is how the requirements statement looks like for Linea Directa Communications:

Customers will be provided with the largest possible profile to record ratio of enriched database and extensive report including explanations and further guidance of company's consultants by the specified deadline. All possible delays and cost variances will be predicted before the project start in order to avoid surprises in the end. The quality of conversations will be thoroughly supervised and agents will be motivated for the best performance while excluding every possible error that could result in increased costs.

In order to validate requirements, this statement will pass all the included departments to receive a feedback. The most critical point here is the role of consultants, which is not practiced at the moment and should be implemented according to customer expectations. However, many requirement statements can be quite demanding and sometimes almost impossible to reach, which then becomes a matter of negotiation with clients and sales department. The most important thing in the end is that when statement is confirmed, it is communicated with every single person involved in the process in order to establish a common goal.

6.3.6. Analyzing and Prioritizing Requirements

Following propositions of Kano model (see p. 39), LDC customer's requirements can be divided as follows:

Dissatisfiers:

- high quality of data,
- agreed costs,
- agreed deadline.

Satisfiers:

- high quality of conversation,
- high ratio of profile to record,
- extensive report.

Delighters:

• consultant.
Clients are taking for granted at least high quality of data, agreed costs and agreed deadline. It is considered to be the core of an agreement between LDC and its client and therefore can be included in the category of dissatisfiers. On the other hand, having a consultant was an idea of only a few clients in the past and can be considered as a delighter. Every remaining requirement falls into the group of satisfiers. Having priorities defined, company can start working on meeting these requirements starting with dissatisfiers and building its way to delighters. For the purpose of an implementation example, the high quality of data as the first dissatisfier will be analyzed further. This point of view confirms other methods used in Six Sigma project selection chapter.

6.4. Measuring Current Performance

6.4.1. Planning and Executing Measures

Operational definitions of what is to be measured are provided in further chapters, including understandable and unambiguous descriptions. In order to measure quality of information, a database of 10,000 records will be used as a population. Following recommendations of International Database Manager, a representative population was chosen, which means that similar findings can be applied to all databases of average quality. The database and its final structure described in the further text are based on real records of a concrete case. Numbers have been rounded in order to make all calculations simpler and the model more representative in the end. In the chosen population, approximately 3,000 of records are profiled in the end of the project. Another 3,000 records have either a wrong number, are unreachable, or have a busy tone. 4,000 records are lost due to unwillingness to cooperate or lack of time to participate. Out of all 7,000 records that had a contact initiated, 1,000 records are depending on agent's motivations to persuade, out of which 700 are persuaded by the agents and 300 are not. Both numbers are already included in the final counts. It becomes obvious why customer expectations regarding percentage of profiled database presented in previous chapters (up to 90%) cannot be reached even closely in the end.

The script that was used for this specific case contains 5 groups of questions. In order to avoid measuring each separate answer, questions can be grouped into categories that include the same type of data. If all of these questions are answered, the record is considered to be a profile. As explained before, the population of profiled records is 3,000. A comparison is made by listening to dialogues and matching them to results. Since in practice, there is no option of listening to all of the dialogues, a systematic sampling is used. On each 20 (with steady and longer projects, these numbers go up to 100 over a period of time) conversations made, one is inspected. In the end, 150 conversations are fully checked. All results from the sample will be applied to the full population. There are numerous reasons why the answer will have different results from the one acquired from the conversation. All these causes will be

further assessed using Ishikawa diagram. Each time any of the 5 groups of questions will differ when comparing dialogue and conversation, it will be considered a defect. There are 150 profiled and checked records, out of which each one has 5 opportunities for defect (each group of questions is one opportunity).

6.4.2. Developing Defect Measures and Identifying Improvement Opportunities

All further numbers presented in the formulas are based on the examination of 150 dialogues of the specific case described above. There were 30 defective units and 40 defects overall.

 $proportion \ defective = \frac{number \ of \ defective \ units}{number \ of \ units} = \frac{30}{150} = 0.20$

There are 20% of units that contained one or more defective units.

final yield
$$(Y_{final}) = 1 - proportion defective = 1 - 0.20 = 0.80$$

There are 80% of units that contained no defective units.

defects per unit (DPU) =
$$\frac{number \ of \ defects}{number \ of \ units} = \frac{40}{150} = 0.2667$$

On average, 26.67% of units contained one defect.

defects per opportunity or DPO =
$$\frac{number of defects}{number of units * number of opportunities}$$
$$= \frac{40}{150 * 5} = 0.053333$$

DPO is a preliminary calculation to help calculate DPMO.

$defects \ per \ million \ opportunities \ (DPMO) = DPO * 1,000,000 \ (10^6) \\ = 0.053333 * 1,000,000 = 53333.33$

Having the DPMO measured, it is easy to find out at what level of sigma the process is currently running using the table in Appendix 8. In order to calculate exact level of sigma for values that are not present in the table, the following Excel formula, which offers exact calculation and is available from i Six Sigma (2008) web portal, was used: ROUND((NORMSINV(1-DPMO/1000000))+1,5;2). Calculations acquired using the formula and the calculated DPMO show that company currently operates at 3.11 sigma level when it

comes to quality of information provided for the specific case (population examined). Connections of sigma level and DPMO are visible from the Chart 15 (see p. 41). Whether company wants to achieve level of 6 sigma depends completely on the costs required to achieve it. It is obvious that additional calculations would be needed in order to provide the answer to the question what is the sigma level that is still acceptable and that can be reached having reasonable costs. Issue is further discussed and presented in goal statement. Normally, there are numerous situations in practice, where going for the level of 6 sigma can incur larger costs than benefits in the overall view. Goal statements usually cover that part by defining what is the exact level of sigma that company wants to achieve.

6.5. Analyzing the Causes

In order to provide clear problem statement, goals, constraints, form teams and assign responsibilities, a project charter is provided. Project charters can vary from project to project but should include the following base points presented for the Six Sigma project in LDC:

Problem Statement

Linea Directa Communications needs to improve quality of data from profiling actions according to customers. Problem occurs mostly in call centre departments in all countries. Gap can be observed when a comparison is being made with recorded conversations. Clients are dissatisfied with the provided data due to the results that are frequently unusual. The progress will be measured on one the one hand with comparison of results and recorded dialogues, and on the other with customer satisfaction surveys. The opportunity to correct these mistakes will result in customer satisfaction and retention providing further options for a long-term partnership.

Goal Statement

Eliminate 90% (eliminating 90% will bring company from current 3.11 sigma level to approximately level 4 sigma – for explanation see Appendix 8) of defects in quality of data from profiling actions. Goal should be reached with the lowest possible costs.

Constraints and Assumptions

Each member of the team is obliged to spend full working time for this project if that does not interfere with normal course of work. If the project proves to be more demanding, additional external consultants will be appointed in order to offer support to the team.

Team Members and Responsibilities

Initial group consists of three teams where international sales manager and international project manager are both working on the same project in three separate countries, while there is one local Project Manager for each separate country. Countries perform the same profiling project in order to evaluate the effects of the culture on the implementation of Six Sigma,

which is easily possible since all main activities are standardized to a common procedure for all LDC countries. One external consultant (Master Black Belt) for Six Sigma will be assigned in order to offer support and guidance. The management of the company will be accounted as sponsors and supporters of the team while monitoring their progress. The responsibility of all departments included in the process (database, analytics, CRM, call centre) is to offer a full support. Local project managers are accountable for a successful implementation in their country, while international sales manager and project manager are accountable for success of the project as a whole.

Preliminary Project Plan

Before project start, each member of the team will have basic three day training. There is a deadline of six months for the project, while taking into consideration that this is the first Six Sigma project and will require extensive preparations. Solution should be implemented in five months, while measurable results are expected in additional two months. Each month, a team meeting will be held in order to review the progress. Meanwhile, all problems should be resolved within the team with a help of external consultant. All milestones will be carefully supervised by the top management. Additional milestones (DMAIC):

- define 1 month,
- measure 1 month,
- analyse 1 month,
- improve and control 2 months.

Using the voice of the customer and tracking results with customer surveys will assure that problem and goal are defined in order to truly relate to key customer requirements.

Chart 20 (see p. 67) provides the Ishikawa diagram for profiling action in LDC. Causes are listed in circles, while corresponding affects that cause them are drawn on the connecting line. Chart 21 (see p. 68) further provides detailed process description as well as gives insight into infrastructure of profiling projects. Core processes that were described in chapter 6.3.1. can also be seen in Chart 21.



Chart 20: Ishikawa Cause and Effect diagram for LDC profiling action

Source: Own



Chart 21: Process mapping for profiling in LDC

Source: Own

As explained in chapter 4.6.3., the quality of data in LDC can be presented as the following function:

quality of data

= f(agent training + agent motivation + script + human error + agent suggestivity)

The best way to assess the current problem is to define exactly what counts for each of the proposed six causes. Each of the possible causes is further explained in order to provide clear understanding.

Cause 1 – Agent Training

Each time, information in the dialogue is different as in the results, and it is apparent that the agent misunderstood what should be done, was lacking experience or similar, it is counted as a defect on the account of poor training.

Cause 2 – Agent Motivation

Each time, information in the dialogue is different as in results, and it is apparent that the agent did not do his best in order to get objective answer from the customer, or acted passive, which presents a defect on the account of agent motivation. Agents can be low on account of bad choice of motivators, strength of motivators or poorly explained rewarding system.

Cause 3 – Script

Each time, information in the dialogue is different as in results, and it is apparent that the agent did everything in his power to answer the question correctly, but was unable to due to the fact that the answer he got was not available from the list of possible answers. The second option includes questions that could be formed in closed type, but are an open type of questions, so it cannot be expected from the agent to write down exactly the same answer as all the other agents when he receives one. The third option is that the script is too demanding and complicated, which affects the conversation flow and can confuse agents to such an extent that they to write wrong answers. Each of these options is considered to be a defect.

Cause 4 – Human Error

Each time, information in the dialogue is different as in results, and it is apparent that agent chose the wrong answer by mistake on the account of lowered concentration or the fact that project is so demanding that mistakes can be made quite often. Both options are counted as defect on the account of human error.

Cause 5 - Suggestivity

Each time, information acquired by suggesting or leading the person into answering the question in order to finish with the call earlier, it is counted as a defect on the account of suggestivity.

Thoroughly defined causes served as a basis for a simple checklist when examining dialogues. As already explained, out of 150 dialogues examined, 30 of them were including defects. The total number of defects was 40, out of which, at least a few unites contained more than one defect.

At the moment, no standard method of evaluation is implemented, which makes it impossible to evaluate dialogues and search for causes of defects. However, initiatives have been taken in that direction as well. At this point, an evaluation form is being prepared in order to assess problems connected to dialogues including quality of data as well as quality of the dialogue itself. Categories that are being assessed using the form are presented in Appendix 6. It is apparent that all possibilities have been covered. Quality of checklist is at a very high level, while problems might occur due to its precision, since it goes in much detail in some points. Company should be careful in order to avoid resistance of users, since it substantially changes the way of work. However, I would suggest its implementation as soon as possible in order to gain the possibility of process measurement, since dialogues are one of the rare things, that have not been defined clearly yet and are therefore hard to control. Usually, this is also the part of the processes where large amount of problems occur. As seen through the thesis, Six Sigma offers tools that can be applied to almost every category, no matter how immeasurable it might seem.

In order to examine the types of defects for the purpose of this analysis, a simple checklist was provided, which will identify the cause that is affecting quality of data the most. Checklist includes all five possible causes and clear understanding on how to determine each one of them. As seen from the Ishikawa diagram and description of causes, one of the causes is that script is not done properly. For the purpose of this example, our hypothesis will be that the quality of information depends mostly on the fact that script is poorly prepared.

H₁: Data quality depends mostly on the quality of the script

In order to prove the hypothesis or neglect it, a measurement has to be done. The nature of the problem is such, that all causes can be measured on discrete scales, which helps to simplify the process of analysis, but because of that, it sometimes gives worse or less reliable results. In order to investigate further, logical cause analysis will be used, which is based on objectivity and facts. Technique is mostly driven by the simple question which for the specific case is: "What types of defects are most common?" Table 3 shows results of the listening to the dialogues and summarizing number of each defect.

Cause	1	2	3	4	5
Number of defects	6	8	19	4	3

Source: Own

Causes can be analyzed with various tools that give option of visualization of the problems to be solved later. One of the commonly used methods for discrete data is visualization with Pareto chart, which is presented below and stratifies data into ascending order going from the most common defects to the least common ones.







Combining findings from logical cause analysis and visualization of the situation from Pareto chart, we can easily confirm hypothesis H_1 . It is evident that in the specific case of chosen population, poorly prepared script is the main reason for the low quality of data.

6.6. Improving and Controlling

After verifying the cause through logical analysis successfully, solutions have to be generated. Usually, brainstorming techniques are used completed with solution statements. It is necessary to point out that even after reaching the final two phases, project can fail due to lack of creativity, failure to think solutions through carefully, poor implementation or organizational resistance, or any other factor. It has to be taken in account that an improvement process can last some time, so results should not be expected immediately. A final critical element of the implementation of the DMAIC is to capture the data after solution was used in order to track the impact of changes as they take effect. To sum up, expectations of improvements within LDC in general should not be too high, since the company already practices the KPI's system, which assigns results directly to their causes. The possibility for that is caused by the measurability of all actions within processes. However, in certain cases such as the one presented, Six Sigma can be of great help.

7. Conclusion

The interest in service quality has increased substantially in recent years as evidenced by numerous books and academic papers describing the application of total quality concepts in the service sector. It is also apparent that direct marketing as a service is specific when it comes to the implementation of quality management systems. Furthermore, LDC is a company endeavouring to bring quality to life. Some efforts were more successful than the others. As William Edwards Deming said: "It does not happen all at once, there is no instant pudding", quality management proves to be a long path to improvement. In my opinion, there are two resources that can be considered scarce and play a major role in success of quality management systems: money and people. As already explained, such initiatives give full-time jobs to many people and can present large costs. Only by satisfying these two factors, a good basis can be gained for all the discussed commitment and changes.

The thesis gives a good overview of some popular quality management systems and a solid proof that in general, quality management can be easily implemented in services. The main difference in service setting is that more effort has to be put into people since there are no tangibles. There are numerous quality management methods with Six Sigma currently appearing to be the most all-round method for assessing quality in the given situation, since it incorporates all given aspects and uses the majority of available statistical tools that are used for optimization of business processes. If the development of new services is in question, the Design for Six Sigma can be used. Whether Six Sigma should be implemented or not was not answered directly mainly because of two reasons. The first reason is that company already practices some quality initiatives, which are well adapted to the current specifics of direct marketing industry in the form of the KPI's and other solutions. Most of these methods can be considered quite successful as well, so there is no reason for change. However, numerous processes are not measured due to their nature and the fact they have not been standardized and put in written anywhere within the company. The processes that are not measured are mostly front office processes including Sales and Implementation department, while practically everything in call centres is covered by the KPI's with few exceptions as the one presented in the case study. One of the greatest minuses still appears to be the fact, that service specific (profiling actions) KPI's are not fully available. As already explained, things are moving further in that field as well.

It appears that there is not much room for measurement and Six Sigma implementation in direct marketing industry. The most important specifics of the industry is the measurability of the majority of actions and the fact that defects can be traced to its origins easily, which proves to be in conflict with two of the qualifications of the Six Sigma project. These qualifications imply that the cause of the problem should not be clearly understood as well as the optimal solution should not be apparent. The implementation of Six Sigma is therefore mainly productive in the field of structured problems that are still present in front office work,

as well as in call centres. How Six Sigma can help with one of such processes was presented throughout the case study. The second reason is that, as described, all the Six Sigma initiatives (or any other quality management methods for that matter) must be evaluated from the cost perspective.

Six Sigma should not be implemented only because of general trends; better solution provides the evaluation of implications on company's efficiency. In order to give a clear answer to that question, I propose a separate feasibility study including the study of COPQ. Since it becomes clear that the expectations from the implementation of Six Sigma to direct marketing should not be too high, financial perspective is the one that should be investigated further. If it turns out that several problems that could be assessed using Six Sigma projects are in fact incurring substantial costs, the implementation is inevitable. On the other hand, if it proves that Six Sigma would be too costly for the company, it should be avoided in order to prevent negative response from the leadership. However, I would still recommend the implementation of Six Sigma into every newly formed company as a whole (in form of a strategy), as it should be viewed as an investment in future. For newly formed companies, this becomes an obvious choice, since the costs of implementation are substantially lower and the organization can be formed on the basis of Six Sigma propositions from the beginning. Methodology proves to be very effective, as well as the tools used, not to mention the quality mindset of the employees as well as management. It is true that it is costly, but it will soon prove to be competitive advantage and a necessary prerequisite in order to compete on the market in a decade. Trends show that many things that used to be considered as a competitive edge in the past can turn into everyday feature of every company that wants to stay on the market. Fierce competition therefore forces companies to implement all available methods including Six Sigma, even if they provide minimum improvements.

Another important point that arose while writing the Master's thesis is that the company does not use any customer satisfaction questionnaire in order to find out what are the key issues that should be improved. Missing such important information or simply trying to improve things that might not matter to the customer is a waste of time. Furthermore, this fact is also the reason why the company fails to measure quality of service, since it was described, that the main prerequisite for using SERVQUAL or the gaps model is to have a system of customer satisfaction questionnaires in place, which provides the opportunity to analyze the first gap and it offers the basis for any further research of gaps as well. Anyway, this can be considered either as a minus in the past or an opportunity for the future. Time will tell how the questionnaire that was prepared for this purpose and implemented in the company while writing the thesis will affect the company in the following years. It is strongly recommended that the questionnaire is used with every project as well as analyzed in the end because of its large importance. In my opinion, this is the point where company is currently missing the largest opportunity, since the results of the questionnaire can be considered a good basis for the selections of Six Sigma project as well. Even though the success of Six Sigma can be guaranteed only when taking in consideration all the factors described, in the end, it does not have to come to a point, where Six Sigma has to be implemented as a strategy within the whole company. Methodology offers numerous tools that can be used in project terms only in order to improve quality. This Master's thesis provides a good example as well as theoretical background, that quality issue can be assessed simply by using the methods that are already prescribed. Six Sigma can only be implemented in form of projects or could serve as guideline, since it has a wide variety of tools to offer as well as standardized approach to solve problems in form of DMAIC. Literature offering descriptions of available tools is limitless and includes simple explanation of statistics that gives any company an opportunity to improve their work. To sum up, there are two important issues that can be concluded from this Master's thesis, one of them being the necessity of the implementation of questionnaire and the other being the opportunity to implement DMAIC methodology. Since the company is doing everything possible to measure all the processes as well as it addresses quality issue on the regular basis, the only thing that appears to be missing is a prescribed methodology. On the other hand, the use of all statistical methods adopted by Six Sigma is very much advisable as well, since they improve the chances of success greatly. As Frederick Winslow Taylor wrote in his Scientific Management in early 1911: "Science, not rule of thumb".

Literature

- Ansari A., Mela F. C.: E-Customization. Chicago : American Marketing Association, Journal of Marketing Research, 2003, Vol. 40, No. 2, May, pp. 131-145.
- Antony J., Banuelas R.: Critical success factors for the successful implementation of six sigma projects in organisations. Bradford : MCB University Press, The TQM Magazine, 2002, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 92-99.
- Antony J., Banuelas R.: Key ingredients for the effective implementation of Six Sigma program. Bradford : MCB University Press, Measuring Business Excellence, 2002a, Vol. 6, No. 4, pp. 20-27.
- Antony J.: Six Sigma for service processes. Bingley : Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Business Process Management Journal, 2006, Vol. 12, No. 2,pp. 234-248.
- Behara S. R., Gundersen E. D.: Analysis of quality management practices in services. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 2001, Vol. 18 No. 6, pp. 584-603.
- Bergqvist T. M., Ramsing K. D.: Measuring performance after meeting award criteria. Milwaukee : American Society for Quality, Quality Progress, 1999, Vol. 32, No. 9, pp. 66-72.
- Berk J., Berk S.: Total Quality Management: Implementing Continuous Improvement. New York : Sterling Publishing, 1993, pp. 192.
- Bird D.: Commonsense Direct Marketing, 3rd Ed.. London : Kogan Page, 1999, pp. 374.
- Bohoris G. A.: A comparative assessment of some major quality awards, Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1995, Vol. 12, No. 9, pp. 30-43.
- Bose I., Xi C.:, Quantitative models for direct marketing: A review from systems perspective. Amsterdam : Elsevier, European Journal of Operational Research, 2008, doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2008.04.006, pp. 1-16.
- Brown M. G.: Baldrige Award Winning Quality, 17th Ed.. New York : Productivity Press, 2008, pp. 384.
- Buzzell R., Gale B.: The PIMS Principles: Linking Strategy to Performance. New York : Free Press, 1987, pp. 322.
- Case T.: Growing Up. Toronto : Inorbital, Interactive Quarterly, 2004, April 19, pp. 32-34.
- Comer B.: DMA study predicts healthy growth. Ridgefield : Haymarket Media, Medical Marketing & Media, 2008, 6, p. 26.
- Crosby P.: Quality without Tears. New York : McGraw-Hill, 1984, pp. 205.
- Crosby P.: Quality is free: the art of making quality certain. New York : McGraw-Hill, 1979, pp. 309.
- Crosby P.: Quality without Tears. New York : McGraw-Hill, 1984, pp. 205.
- Dahlgaard J. J., Dahlgaard P., Edgeman S. M.: Core value deployment: the need for a new renaissance. New York : Routledge, Total Quality Management, 1998, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 45-50.

- Dean J. W., Bowen D. E.: Management Theory and Total Quality: Improving Research and Practice Through Theory Development. New York : Academy of Management Review, Academy of Management Review Journal, 1994, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 392-418.
- Deming W.E.: Out of the Crisis. Cambridge : MIT, Center for Advanced Engineering Study, 1986, pp. 507.
- de Mast J.: A methodological comparison of three strategies for quality improvement. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 2004, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 198-213.
- di Talamo N.: Protecting data from protection. Hampshire : Palgrave Macmillan, Journal of Database Marketing, 1994, Vol. 1 No. 3, pp. 254-64.
- Dotchin A. J., Oakland S. J.: Total Quality Management in Services, Part 2: Service Quality.Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1994, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 27-42.
- Easton G., Jarrell S.: The effects of total quality management on corporate performance an empirical investigation. Chicago : University of Chicago Press, Journal of Business, 1998, Vol. 71, No. 2, pp. 253-307.
- Ebrahimpour M.: An Empirical Study of American and Japanese Approaches to Quality Management in the United States. Bradford : MCB University Press, The International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1988, Vol. 5, No. 5, pp. 5-24.
- Edwards J.: The Art of the Infomercial. New York : The Nielsen Company, Brandweek, 2001, September 3, pp. 14-19.
- Elliot G.: The journey to steps to Six Sigma. Bradford : MCB University Press, Handbook of Business Strategy, 2004, pp. 201-205.
- Evans M.: From 1086 and 1984: direct marketing into the Millennium. Bingley : Emereald Group Publishing Limited, Marketing Intelligence and Planning, 1998, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 56-67.
- Evans M., O'Malley L., Petterson M.: Direct marketing: rise and rise or rise and fall? Bingley: Emereald Group Publishing Limited, Marketing Intelligence & Planning, 1995, Vol. 13, No. 6, pp. 16-23.
- Evans M., O'Malley L., Patterson M: Direct marketing communications in the UK: a study of growth, past, present and future. New York : Routledge, Journal of Marketing Communications, 1996, Vol. 2 No. 1, pp. 51-65.
- Feingenbaum A. V.: Total quality control. New York : Mcgraw-Hill, 1991, pp. 863.
- Freedman D.H.: The future of advertising is here. New York : Mansueto Ventures LLC, Inc. Magazine, 2005, Vol.27, No. 8, pp. 70-77.
- George L. M.: Lean Six Sigma for service. New York : McGraw-Hill, 2003, pp. 386.
- Ghobadian A., Speller S., Jones M.: Service quality Concepts and models. Bradford : MCB University Press, The International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1994, Vol. 11, No. 9, pp. 43-67.
- Ghobadian A., Woo S. H.: Characteristics, benefits and shortcomings of four major quality awards. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1996, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 10-44.

- Gilmore A.: Services Marketing and Management, 1st Ed.. London : Sage Publications, 2003, pp. 216.
- Groth C. J.: Total quality management: perspectives for leaders. Bradford : MCB University Press, The TQM Magazine, 1995, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 54–59.
- Grönroos C.: A Service Quality Model and Its Marketing Implications. Bingley : Emerald Group Publishing Limited, European Journal of Marketing, 1984, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp. 36-44.
- Hackman J. R., Wageman R.: Total Quality Management; Empirical, Conceptual and Practical Issues. New York : The Johnson School of Management, Administrative Science Quarterly, 1995, Vol. 40, June, pp. 309-342.
- Harai O.: The eleventh reason why TQM doesn't work. Cambridge : MIT Sloan, Management Review, 1993, Vol. 82, No. 5, pp. 31-36.
- Hellsten U., Klefsjö B.: TQM as a management system consisting of values techniques and tools. Bradford : MCB University Press, The TQM Magazine, 2000, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 238-244.
- Hendricks K. B., Singhal V. R.: Does implementing an effective TQM program actually improve operating performance? Empirical evidence from firms that have won quality awards. Hanover : Institute for Operations Research and the Management Sciences, Management Science, 1997, Vol. 43, No. 9, pp. 1258-1274.
- Hensley L. R., Dobie K.: Assessing readiness for Six Sigma in a service setting. Bingley : Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Managing Service Quality, 2005, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 82-101.
- Huq Z., Stolen D. J.: Total quality management contrasts in manufacturing and service industries. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1998, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 138-161.
- Hutton W. D.: The Change Agent's Handbook: A Survival Guide for Quality Improvement Champions. Milwaukee : ASQ Quality Press, 1994, pp. 306.
- Ishikawa K.: What is total quality control? London : Prentice Hall, 1985, pp. 215.
- Juran M. J.: Juran on Planning for Quality. New York : The Free Press ,1988, pp. 341.
- Juran M. J., Gryna M. F.: Quality planning and analysis: from product development through use. New York : McGraw-Hill, 1993, pp. 634.
- Juran M. J.: Juran on Leadership for Quality: An Executive Handbook. New York : Free Press, 2003, pp. 384.
- Karapetrovic S.: ISO 9000, service quality and ergonomics. Bradford : MCB University Press, Managing Service Quality, 1999, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 81–89.
- Karuppusami G., Gandhinathan R.: Pareto analysis of critical success factors of total quality management. Bradford : MCB University Press, The TQM Magazine, 2006, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp. 372-385.
- Kemp S.: Quality Management Demystified. New York : McGraw-Hill, 2006, p. 355.
- Kotler P., Keller L. K.: Marketing Managemenet, 12th Ed.. New Jersey : Prentice Hall, 2006, pp. 816.

- Lakhe R. R., Mohanty R. P.: Total Quality Management Concepts, Evolution and Acceptability in Developing Economies. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1994, Vol. 11, No. 9, pp. 9-33.
- Lawler E. E. III: Total quality management and employee involvement: are they compatible?. New York : Academy of Management, Academy of Management Executive, 1994, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 68-76.
- Lewis R. C., Booms B. H.: Marketing Aspects of Service Quality. Chicago, IL : American Marketing Association, Proceedings of the A.M.A.: Emerging Perspectives on Service Marketing, 1983, pp. 99-104.
- Loomba P. S. A., Johannessen B. T.: Malcolm Baldrige National Quality Award: Critical issues and inherent values. Bradford : MCB University Press, Benchmarking for Quality Management & Technology, 1997, Vol. 4, No. 1, 1997, pp. 59-77.
- McCarthy M.: Direct Marketing Gets Cannes Do Spirit. McLean, VA : Ganett Co. Inc., USA Today, June 17, 2002, p. 4B.
- Modaress B., Ansari A.: Quality Control Techniques in the US Firms: A Survey. Chicago : The Association for Operations Management, Production and Inventory Management Journal, 1989, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 58-62.
- Motwani J., Kumar A., Cheng H. C.: A roadmap to implementing ISO 9000. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 1996, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 72-83.
- Nash L. E.: Direct Marketing: Strategy, Planning, Execution, 3rd Ed.. NewYork : McGraw-Hill, 1995, pp. 600.
- Ojasalo J.: Quality for the individual and for the company in the business-to-business market. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 2004, Vol. 23, No. 2, pp. 162-178.
- Pande S. P., Neuman P. R., Cavanagh R. R.: The Six Sigma way. New York : McGraw-Hill, 2000, pp. 422.
- Parasuraman A., Zeithaml V. A., Berry L. L.: SERVQUAL: A Multiple Item Scale for Measuring Consumer Perceptions of Service Quality. Oxford : Elsevier Ltd., Journal of Retailing, 1988, Vol. 64, No. 1, pp. 12-40.
- Pyzdek T.: The Six Sigma handbook. New York : McGraw-Hill, 2003, pp. 830.
- Raisinghani S. M.: Six Sigma: concepts, tools, and applications. Bingley : Emerald Publishing Limited, Industrial Management & Data Systems, 2005, Vol. 105, No. 4, pp. 491-505.
- Rapp S., Collins T.: Great Marketing Turnaround. London : Prentice Hall, 1990, pp. 352.
- Ross J., Georgoff D.: A Survey of Productivity and Quality Issues in Manufacturing: The State of the Industry. Burlington : Clifford/Elliot and Associates Ltd., Industrial Management, 1991, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 3-5.
- Rust R. T., Zahorik A. J.: Customer Satisfaction, Customer Retention and Market Share. Oxford : Elsevier Ltd., Journal of Retailing, 1993, Vol. 69, No. 2, pp. 193-215.
- Shahin A.: SERVQUAL and Model of Service Quality Gaps: A Framework for Determining and Prioritizing Critical Factors in Delivering Quality Services. London : Sage Publications, Journal of Management, 2004, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 1-30.

- Shamsuddin A., Hassan M.: Survey and case investigations on application of quality management tools and techniques in SMIs. Bradford : MCB University Press, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 2003, Vol. 20, No. 7, pp. 795-826.
- Squires S.: The geography of direct marketing: getting better answers to "who and how and what?" in terms of where? Hanley-on-Thames : World Advertising research Center, Admap, 1993, July/August, pp. 40-41.
- Stone B., Jacobs R.: Successful Direct Marketing Methods, 6th Ed.. Lincolnwood : NTC Business Books, 2007, pp. 592.
- Tan C. K.: A comparative study of 16 national quality awards. Bradford : MCB University Press, The TQM Magazine, 2002, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 165-171.
- Tapp A.: Principles of direct and database marketing 3rd Ed.. Harlow : Financial Times Management, 2005, pp. 489.
- Teas R. K.: Expectations Performance Evaluation and Consumer Perceptions of Quality. Chicago : American Marketing Association, Journal of Marketing, 1993, Vol. 57, No. 4, pp. 18-34.
- Thevnin C.: Effective management commitment enhances six sigma success. Bradford : MCB University Press, Handbook of Business Strategy, 2004, pp. 195-200.
- Thomas R. A.: The end of mass marketing: or, why all successful marketing is now direct marketing. Bingley : Emereald Group Publishing Limited, Direct Marketing: An International Journal, 2007, Vol. 1 No. 1, pp. 6-16.
- Thomas B., Housden M.: Direct Marketing in Practice. Oxford : Butterworth-Heinemann, 2002, pp. 352.
- Thorpe D.: Business Performance Outcomes of Service Quality: A Conceptual Model. Miami : Academy of Marketing Science, Developments in Marketing Science, 1994, XVII, pp. 159-164.
- Tonks D. G.: Pinning down geodemographics. Bingley : Emereald Group Publishing Limited, Marketing Intelligence and Planning, 1990, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 4-10.
- Uncles M.: Do you or your customers need a loyalty scheme? Hampshire : Palgrave Macmillan, Journal of Targeting Measurement and Analysis, 1994, Vol. 2 No. 4, pp. 335-350.
- Walsh A., Hughes H., Maddox P. D.: Total quality management continuous improvement: is the philosophy a reality? Bradford : MCB University Press, Journal of European Industrial Training, 2002, Vol. 26, No. 6, pp. 299-307.
- Westlund A.L.: The interaction between quality, productivity and economic performance: the case of Swedish pharmacies. New York : Routledge, Total Quality Management, 2001, Vol. 10, No. 4, pp. 285-296.
- Young M.: A practical man's guide to direct marketing. Hanley-on-Thames : World Advertising research Center, Admap, 1993, July/August, pp. 25-33.

Sources

Adam's Six Sigma.

[http://www.adamssixsigma.com/six_sigma_approach.htm], 30.7.2008

A.T. Kearney: Strategic Workshop, Linea Directa Communications, 2007. i Six Sigma.

[http://www.isixsigma.com/library/content/sigma_table.asp], 8.7.2008. Key Note: Direct Report, London, 1994.

Linea Directa Communications.

[www.linea-directa.eu], 10.7.2008.

Online Publisher's Association: OPA Media Consumption Study, January 2002. [http://www.online-

publishers.org/media/144_W_opa_media_consumption_study_feb02.pdf], 10.7.2008. Six Sigma SPC.

[http://www.sixsigmaspc.com/dictionary/DMAIC-

definemeasureanalyzeimprovecontrol.html], 30.7.2008

Smith L. D., McFee K.: Media Mix 101: Online Media for Traditional Marketers. [http://advantage.msn.com/articles/MediaMix101_2.asp], 10.7. 2008.

Glossary

Acceptable quality level

The maximum percentage or proportion of variant units in a lot or batch that, for the purposes of acceptance sampling, can be considered satisfactory as a process average.

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

Technique which subdivides the total variation of a set of data into meaningful component parts associated with specific sources of variation for the purpose of testing some hypothesis on the parameters of the model or estimating variance components.

Assignable cause

Factor which contributes to variation and which is feasible to detect and identify.

Attribute data

Data that has a set of discrete values such as yes or no.

Black Belt

A team leader, trained in DMAIC process and facilitation skills, responsible for guiding an improvement project to completion.

Benchmarking

A defined measure of productivity based on comparison to similar processes.

Cause-and-effect diagrams

Also known as a "fishbone" or "Ishikawa Diagram"; categorical brainstorming tool used for determining root-cause hypothesis and potential causes (the bones of the fish) for a specific effect (the head of the fish)

Champion

A Six Sigma leader, who recognizes, defines, assigns, and supports the successful completion of Six Sigma projects.

Charter

Team document defining the context, specifics, and plans of an improvement projects; includes business case; problem and goal statements; constraints and assumptions; roles; preliminary plan; and scope. Periodic reviews with the sponsor ensure alignment with business strategies, review, revise, refine periodically throughout the DMAIC process based on data.

Cost of poor quality

Money measures depicting the impact of problems (internal and external failures) in the process as it exists; include labour and material costs for handoffs, rework, inspection, and other non-value adding activities.

Defect

Departure of a quality characteristic from its intended level or state that occurs with a severity sufficient to cause an associated product or service not to satisfy intended normal, or reasonably foreseeable, usage requirements.

Defect opportunity

A type of potential defect on a unit of throughput (output) which is important to the customer.

Defective unit

Of product or service containing at least one defect, or having several imperfections that in combination cause the unit not to satisfy intended normal, or reasonably foreseeable, usage requirements. The word defective is appropriate for use when a unit of product or service is evaluated in terms of usage (as contrasted to conformance to specifications).

Deming Prize

Japanese version of National Quality Award.

Design for Six Sigma

Separate and emerging methodology related to traditional Six Sigma. The tools and order used in Six Sigma (DMAIC) require a process to be in place and functioning. DFSS has a different objective of determining the needs of customers and the business, and driving those needs into the product solution.

Discrete data

Any data not quantified on an infinitely divisible scale. Includes a count, proportion, or percentage of a characteristic or category.

Effectiveness

Ability to achieve the desired effect.

Efficiency

Ability to do a process at minimal cost or using the minimum of particular resources.

European Quality Award

European version of National Quality Award.

Factor

An assignable cause which may affect the responses (test results) and of which different versions (levels) are included in the experiment.

Fishbone diagrams

Ishikawa diagrams.

Game theory

Application of mathematics in strategic situations.

Green Belt

An individual who receives approximately two weeks training in the Six Sigma DMAIC methodology, analytical, problem solving and change management methods. A Green Belt is a part time Six Sigma practitioner who applies Six Sigma techniques to their local area, performing smaller-scoped projects and providing support to Black Belt projects.

Histogram

Plot of the frequency distribution in the form of rectangles whose bases are equal to the cell interval and whose areas are proportional to the frequencies.

Inbound

Telephone communication initiated by the customer.

ISO 9000

Standard and guideline used to certify organizations as competent in defining and adhering to documented processes.

Kaizen

Continuous improvement, both in general and as a Japanese quality management method.

Lower specification limit

The lowest value of characteristic that is acceptable.

Malcolm Baldrige Award

American version of National Quality Award.

Master Black Belt

An individual who has received additional training beyond Black Belt. The Master Black Belt is technical, go-to expert for technical and project issues in Six Sigma. Master Black Belts are qualified to teach and mentor other Six Sigma Belts and support Champions.

Mean

Average.

Normal distribution

The normal distribution is pattern for the distribution of a set of data which follows a bell shaped curve.

Opt-in

An opt-in policy requires a potential customer to self-select the services they wish to subscribe to, and how any information they provide may be used.

Opt-out

An opt-out policy is where an existing customer receives electronic communications usually on the basis of a prior relationship—without providing express permission.

Outbound

Telephone communication initiated by the marketing company or any other firm.

Parameter

A constant or coefficient that describes some characteristic of a population (e.g., standard deviation, average, regression coefficient).

Pareto Chart

Quality tool based on Pareto principle; use attribute data with columns arranged in descending order, with highest occurrences shown first; uses a cumulative line to track percentages of each category/bar, which distinguishes the 20 percent of items causing 80 percent of problem.

Plan, do, check, act

The cyclical process of correcting problems created by Shewhart, promoted by Deming, and applied to all gaps and errors by kaizen.

Population

The totality of items or units of material under consideration. NOTE: The items may be units or measurements, and the population may be real or conceptual. Thus population may refer to all the items actually produced in a given day or all that might be produced if the process were to continue in-control.

Process map or flowchart

Graphic display of the process flow that shows all activities, decision points, rework loops and handoff.

Profiling

Recording a person's or company's behaviour in order to predict or assess their ability in a certain sphere or to identify a particular group of people.

Proportion defective

Fraction of units with defects; number of defective units divided by the total number of units; translate the decimal figure to a percentage.

Quality assurance

Includes activities to evaluate and improve processes, re-engineer work to eliminate unnecessary processes or steps, ensure effective communication and mutual understanding throughout the SIPOC chain, and auditing and review to ensure all processes are maintained to standard and improved. Includes quality activities outside the realm of checking and quality control. QA includes cross-departmental communication about quality, communication with vendors, redesign of the product or process to prevent error, and a variety of audit processes to make sure that work and management are being done to standards or in accordance with best practices.

Quality control

The broader meaning is synonymous with checking; the narrower meaning is Statistical Quality Control. In the broad sense including all forms of checking, ensures that outputs and processes meet requirements, that defective output is reworked or scrapped, and that all seven aspects of processes are adjusted and restored to work within tolerances. The narrow meaning refers to statistical quality control, where we test a small sample of the entire product batch and extrapolate to define qualities of the entire batch. In the broader use, quality control is synonymous with checking. It refers to all activities of review, inspection, and testing of the product or its technical process, with or without sampling and statistics.

Quality planning

Includes all early efforts to plan how error will be prevented (QC) and how quality will be managed (QA), and some of the design activities of previously part of QA. The planning that includes defining what processes are required to deliver the product to meet or exceed specifications, putting them in order by linking outputs of one process to inputs of the next, and then defining all seven aspects of each process with requirements and tolerances on all key variables, so that we can consistently produce all outputs of all processes to specification.

Regression analysis

Modelling and analysis of numerical data consisting of values of dependant variable and of one or more independent variables.

Run chart

Measurement display tool showing variation in a factor over time; indicates trends, patterns and instances of special causes of variation.

Sample

A group of units, portion of material, or observations taken from a larger collection of units, quantity of material, or observations that serves to provide information that may be used as a basis for making a decision concerning the larger quantity

Scatter plot or diagram

Graph used to show relationship or correlation between two factors or variables.

SERVQUAL

Service quality framework.

SIPOC Diagram

A visual representation of a process or system where inputs and outputs of the process are presented.

Standard deviation

A measure of the dispersion of a set of values. It can apply to a probability distribution, a random variable, a population or a multiset.

Systematic sample

A sample gathered in a patterned, non-random way.

TRIZ

The Russian acronym for Theory of Inventive Problem Solving, a technique that attempts to define a specific problem as a system and identify elements in the system that need correction to reach the desired solution.

Voice of the customer

Data (complaints, surveys, comments, market research, etc.) representing the views/needs of a company's customers.

Yield

Total number of units handled correctly through the process steps.

Up-sell

Up-selling is a sales technique whereby a salesman attempts to have the customer purchase a larger number of the ordered items in an attempt to make a more profitable sale.

Upper control limit

The highest value of characteristic that is acceptable.

Abbreviations

Business-to-business
Business-to-customer
Customer Management Centre
Costs Of Poor Quality
Customer Relations Management
Computer Telephony Integration
Critical To Quality
Company Wide Quality Control
Design For Six Sigma
Direct Marketing Association
Define, Measure, Analyze, Improve, Control
Defects Per Million Opportunities
Defects Per Opportunity
Defects Per Unit
European Quality Award
Fast Moving Consumer Goods
International Organization for Standardization
Interactive Voice Response
Key Performance Indicator
Linea Directa Communications
Lower Specification Limit
Net Present Value
National Quality Award
Plan, Do, Check, Act
Pareto Priority Index
Quality Assurance
Quality Control
Quality Planning
Recency, Frequency, Monetary amount
Suppliers, Inputs, Process, Outputs, Customers
Short Message Service
Statistical Process Control
Structured Query Language
Total Quality Management
Upper Specification Limit

Appendices

Appendix 1: LDC customer satisfaction questionnaire	1
Appendix 2: Six Sigma deployment	
Appendix 3: Six Sigma roles and responsibilities	5
Appendix 4: Organizational chart of Linea Directa Communications	
Appendix 5: KPI's	11
Appendix 6: Dialogue evaluation form	17
Appendix 7: Script sample	
Appendix 8: Table for yield, sigma and DPMO calculation	

Appendix 1: LDC customer satisfaction questionnaire

I heard for LDC from:

Internet Conference Sales person contact Recommendation Expo Other (note down)

I decided for LDC on the account of (multiple choice):

Good offer Good price Good reputation Sales person convinced me Database available from LDC site Complexity of service Good CRM tool International experience Geographical presence Other (note down)

Tangibles (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)							
I find facilities of LDC appealing	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I find LDC internet site appealing	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I think all required information is available from LDC internet site	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with LDC CRM software	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with the final report of the campaign	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Reliability (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)							
I am satisfied with deadlines being met	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with the final costs of the campaign	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with precise and exact execution of the campaign	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with the results of the campaign	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Responsiveness (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)							
I am satisfied with availability of LDC personnel	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with LDC personnel's willingness to help	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I am satisfied with fast response of LDC personnel	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Assurance (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)							
I find LDC personnel experienced	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I find LDC personnel contributory - ideas contributed to the success of campaign	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I find LDC personnel professional	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Empathy (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree)							
I find LDC personnel kind and caring	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I find LDC to be flexible in meeting my requirements	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Rate the following categories according to their importance (rating with numbers from 1 to 9 – 1 being the most important category and 9 the least) Quality of information Quality of conversation Conformance to agreed costs Conformance to agreed deadline High ratio of processed database Report quality Further consultancy for data use Flexibility of campaign Regional coverage Appendix 2: Six Sigma deployment (Pyzdek, 2003, p. 32)

- 1. Deployment goals
 - 1.1. Business level
 - 1.1.1. Increase shareholder value
 - 1.1.2. Increase revenues
 - 1.1.3. Improve market share
 - 1.1.4. Increase profitability and ROI
 - 1.2. Operations level
 - 1.2.1. Eliminate "hidden factory" (i.e., resources used because things were not done right the first time)
 - 1.2.2. Improve rolled throughput yield and normalized yield
 - 1.2.3. Reduce labour costs
 - 1.2.4. Reduce material costs
 - 1.3. Process level
 - 1.3.1. Improve cycle time
 - 1.3.2. Reduce resource requirements
 - 1.3.3. Improve output volume
 - 1.3.4. Improve process yield (ratio of inputs to outputs)
 - 1.3.5. Reduce defects
 - 1.3.6. Reduce variability
 - 1.3.7. Improve process capability
- 2. Identify key value streams
 - 2.1. Which processes are critical to business performance?
 - 2.2. How do processes deliver value to customers?
- 3. Determine metrics and current performance levels
 - 3.1. How will we measure key value streams?
 - 3.2. Are our measurements valid, accurate, and reliable?
 - 3.3. Are the processes stable (i.e., in statistical control)?
 - 3.3.1. If not, why not?
 - 3.3.2. What are the typical cycle times, costs, and quality opportunities of these processes?
 - 3.3.3. What is the short- and long-term process capability?
 - 3.4. Detailed as-is and should-be process maps for critical processes
 - 3.5. How does current performance relate to benchmark or best-in-class performance?

- 4. Breakthrough to new performance levels
 - 4.1. Which variables make the most difference?
 - 4.2. What are the best settings for these variables?
 - 4.3. Can the process be redesigned to become more robust?
 - 4.4. Can product be redesigned to become more robust and/or more easily produced?
- 5. Standardize on new approach
 - 5.1. Write procedures describing how to operate the new process
 - 5.2. Train people in the new approach
 - 5.3. When necessary, use SPC to control process variation
 - 5.4. Modify inventory, cost accounting, and other business systems to assure that improved process performance is reflected in bids, order quantities, inventory trigger points, etc.

Responsible Entity	Roles	Responsibilities
Executive Six Sigma Council	Strategic leadership	 Ensures Six Sigma goals are linked to enterprise goals Develops new policies as required Aligns process excellence efforts across the organization Suggests high-impact projects Approves project selection strategy
	Assures progress	 Provides resources Tracks and controls progress toward goals Reviews improvement teams' results (BB, GB, Lean, Supply Chain, other) Reviews effectiveness of Six Sigma deployment: systems, processes, infrastructure, etc.
	Cultural transformation	 Communicates vision Removes formal and informal barriers Commissions modification of compensation, incentive, reward and recognition systems
Director, Six Sigma	Manages Six Sigma infrastructure and resources	 Six Sigma champion for ACME Develops Enterprise Six Sigma deployment Owns the Six Sigma project selection and prioritization process for ACME Assures Six Sigma strategies and projects are linked through quality function deployment to business plans Achieves defect reduction and cost take- out targets through Six Sigma activities Member of Executive Six Sigma Council Leads and evaluates the performance of Black Belts and Master Black Belts Communicates Six Sigma progress with customers, suppliers and the enterprise

Appendix 3: Six Sigma roles and responsibilities (Pyzdek, 2003, p. 39)

Responsible Entity	Roles	Responsibilities
		• Champions Six Sigma reward and recognition, as appropriate
Six Sigma Certification Board	Certifies Black Belts Board representatives include Master Black Belts and key Six Sigma leaders	 Works with local units to customize Black Belt and Green Belt requirements to fit business needs Develops and implements systems for certifying Black Belts and Green Belts Certifies Black Belts
Six Sigma Core Team	Cross-functional Six Sigma team Part-time change agent	 Provides input into policies and procedures for successful implementation of Six Sigma across ACME Facilitates Six Sigma activities such as training, special recognition events, Black Belt testing, etc.
Master Black Belt	Enterprise Six Sigma expert Permanent full-time change agent Certified Black Belt with additional specialized skills or experience especially useful in deployment of Six Sigma across the enterprise	 Highly proficient in using Six Sigma methodology to achieve tangible business results Technical expert beyond Black Belt level on one or more aspects of process improvement (e.g., advanced statistical analysis, project management, communications, program administration, teaching, project coaching) Identifies high-leverage opportunities for applying the Six Sigma approach across the enterprise Basic Black Belt training Green Belt training Coach/Mentor Black Belts Participates on ACME Six Sigma Certification Board to certify Black Belts and Green Belts

Responsible Entity	Roles	Responsibilities
Black Belt	Six Sigma technical expert Temporary, full-time change agent (will return to other duties after completing a two to three year tour of duty as a Black Belt)	 Leads business process improvement projects where Six Sigma approach is indicated Successfully completes high-impact projects that result in tangible benefits to the enterprise Demonstrated mastery of Black Belt body of knowledge Demonstrated proficiency at achieving results through the application of the Six Sigma approach Internal Process Improvement Consultant for functional areas Coach/Mentor Green Belts Recommends Green Belts for Certification
Green Belt	Six Sigma project originator Six Sigma project leader Part-time Six Sigma change agent. Continues to perform normal duties while participating on Six Sigma project teams Six Sigma champion in local area	 Demonstrated mastery of Green Belt body of knowledge Demonstrated proficiency at achieving results through the application of the Six Sigma approach Recommends Six Sigma projects Participates on Six Sigma project teams Leads Six Sigma teams in local improvement projects Works closely with other continuous improvement leaders to apply formal data analysis approaches to projects Teaches local teams, shares knowledge of Six Sigma Successful completion of at least one Six Sigma project every 12 months to maintain their Green Belt certification
Six Sigma Improvement Team	Primary ACME vehicle for achieving Six Sigma improvements	 Completes chartered Six Sigma projects that deliver tangible results Identifies Six Sigma project candidates

Responsible Entity	Roles	Responsibilities
ACME Leaders and Managers	Champions for Six Sigma	 Ensures flow-down and follow-through on goals and strategies within their organizations Plans improvement projects Charters or champions chartering process Identifies teams or individuals required to facilitate Six Sigma deployment Integrates Six Sigma with performance appraisal process by identifying measurable Six Sigma goals/objectives/ results Identifies, sponsors and directs Six Sigma projects Holds regular project reviews in accordance with project charters Includes Six Sigma requirements in expense and capital budgets Identifies and removes organizational and cultural barriers to Six Sigma success Rewards and recognizes team and individual accomplishments (formally and informally) Communicates leadership vision Monitors and reports Six Sigma progress Validates Six Sigma project results Nominates highly qualified Black Belt and/or Green Belt candidates
Project Sponsor	Charter and support Six Sigma project teams	 Sponsor is ultimately responsible for the success of sponsored projects Actively participates in projects Assures adequate resources are provided for project

Responsible Entity	Roles	Responsibilities
		 Personal review of progress Identifies and overcomes barriers and issues Evaluates and accepts deliverable
"Matrixed" Project Manager	Manages Six Sigma resources dedicated to a particular area (e.g., teams of Black Belts on special assignment) Champions Six Sigma Black Belt team	 Provides day-to-day direction for Six Sigma project Black Belt and team activities Provides local administrative support, facilities, and materials Conducts periodic reviews of projects Provides input on Black Belt performance appraisals Makes/implements decisions based on recommendations of Six Sigma Black Belts
Six Sigma Improvement Team Member	Learns and applies Six Sigma tools to projects	 Actively participates in team tasks Communicates well with other team members Demonstrates basic improvement tool knowledge Accepts and executes assignments as determined by team



Appendix 4: Organizational chart of Linea Directa Communications (local level)
Appendix 5: KPI's

KPI	Definition	Metric	Description
Service level	The percentage of calls from the pilot that have obtained a reply within a time below a certain duration (10 seconds)	Number of answered calls within 10 sec divided by number of served inbound calls	Recommended SL for Inbound calls related to Info = 80%-90% and for Inbound calls related to sell = 90%- 100%. We could use for customer support 80%-90% and for contact centre 90%- 100%
Conversion rate II	It is the ratio between inbound orders and served calls.	Number of inbound orders divided by number of served calls	 i) Percentage of served calls we converted into order/purchase. ii) Conversion rate should be as high as possible = every caller is a potential client = we are trying to convert as much callers as possible into buyers
Efficiency	Percentage of the number of calls served as regards of number of Inbound calls	Number of served calls divided by number of Inbound calls.	Efficiency level shows us how effective CMC is as regards of answering calls (lost call = lost potential buyer = lost money)
Cross-sell ratio (value by marked)	It shows the cross-sell value of products which are marked as cross-sell in Cat Pro out of the value of all products	Value of marked cross products divided by value of all products	It shows how much extra sell can make your contact centre
Cross-sell ratio (quantity by marked)	It shows the cross-sell quantity of products which are marked as cross-sell in Cat Pro out of the quantity of all products	Quantity of marked cross products divided by quantity of all products	It shows how much extra sell can make your contact centre
Cross-sell ratio (value by position)	It shows the cross-sell value of products by position out of the value of all products	Value of products on 2 nd and higher position divided by value of all products	It shows how much extra sell can make your contact centre
Cross-sell ratio (quantity by position)	It shows the cross-sell quantity of products by position out of the quantity of all products	Quantity of products on 2nd and higher position divided by quantity of all products	It shows how much extra sell can make your contact centre

KPI	Definition	Metric	Description
Cancellation	Number of cancellations out of the orders	Number of cancellations divided by number of valid order forms	Number of cancellations out of the orders
Rejected ratio	It shows the ratio of complaints value (rejected) out of the invoice value. Note: Invoice date are not counted for this KPI measurement but time period	Number of complaints in time period (not by the invoice date but in time period) divided by number of invoices in time period	This gives us information how many products were rejected in comparison to issued invoice in the same time period
Returned ratio	It shows the ratio of complaints value (returned) out of the invoice value. Note: invoice date are not counted for this KPI measurement but time period	Complaints quantity in time period (not by the invoice date) divided by invoice quantity in time period	This gives us information how many products were returned in comparison to issued invoice in the same time period
Cross-sell ratio (Average Value)	Average cross-sell value between cross products on orders sorted by order position and cross products on orders sorted by value position		It shows how much extra sell can make your contact centre
Cross-sell ratio (average quantity)	Average cross-sell quantity between cross products on orders sorted by order position and cross products on orders sorted by value position.		It shows how much extra sell can make your contact centre
Average speed of answer	Average amount of time customers waited in queue before an agent greeted them	Number of waiting time divided by number of Inbound calls	It shows amount of time customers waiting is queue to get connected to a agent. It will help us to measure the efficiency of the contact centre
Abandon calls/hour	Number of inbound calls that were abandon within the system after a specific period of time after waiting in the queue.	Number of abandon calls in open state (call centre working hours) divided by number of inbound hours.	It shows number of abandon calls from the total incoming calls per hour

KPI	Definition	Metric	Description
Prank calls	Percentage of unserious calls	Number of prank calls contact divided by all contacts	Prank calls are decreasing the conversion rate and percentage of prank calls is higher when toll free number is in use
Complaints ratio	It shows the ratio of complaints value (returned + rejected) out of the Invoice value. Note: Invoice date are counted for this KPI measurement	Complaints value (returned + rejected) in EUR divided by Invoice value in EUR	This gives us information how many products were rejected or returned in comparison to issued invoice in the same time period
Seat utilization	It is the ratio between working hours and equipped seats.	Sum of inbound and outbound hours during the week days divided by (working days multiple equipped seats and calculated opening hours).	Calculated opening hours per country are: ROM - 10, RUS - 18, others - 12 hours
Talk time utilization	It is the ratio between talk time and working hours on inbound and outbound	Total talk time divided by sum of inbound and outbound activity.	
Conversion rate I	It is the ratio between orders and inserted contacts without unserious contacts (Prank calls)	Number of orders divided by number of contacts	Countries with low percentage are usually inserting only contacts with customer makes a purchase but we have to insert every contact not just orders
Orders / hour	Average number of orders inserted by an agent in a period of one hour	Number of orders (DRTV + print) divided by number of inbound hours.	 i) How good do you plan your agents from cost monitoring point of view. ii) How much they sell per hour. iii) You can also reduce your cost according to this data
First call resolution	It shows the percentage of customer inquiries completed on the first attempt.	Number of contacts which have time of entering and time of last change within 5 minutes divided by all contacts	Benefits of measurement of FCR are: improvement in customer satisfaction and with this measurement it will be easy to trace the time period in which most of the customers are reachable and that will lead to save more time in which agent is making

КРІ	Definition	Metric	Description
Call resolution time	It shows the average time needed for solving the contact.	Sum of all time difference between contact insertion and contact solution divided by number of contacts	
Average handling time	It is defined as average duration of a call (from answering to ring off)	Sum of inbound call handling time (talk + wrap + hold) divided by the number of inbound calls	It will help us to monitor the efficiency of the new agents as new agents take longer time to handle calls
Cost per call	It provides information about the expenses associated with each customer call (inbound and outbound calls)		
Cost per inbound call	It provides information about the expenses associated with each customer inbound call		
Cost per outbound call	It provides information about the expenses associated with each customer outbound call		
Cost per contact	It provides information about the expenses associated with each contact		
Cost per order	It provides information about the expenses associated with each order		
Cross efficiency	It shows the efficiency of the agents in cross sell	Total rewards for cross sell / total cross sell value	
Cost per parcel	It provides information about the expenses associated with each parcel		
Cost per product	It provides information about the expenses associated with each product		
Inbound	It shows the percentage of inbound activity in total working time		

KPI	Definition	Metric	Description
	It shows how many		
Inhound EE	calls on average we		
Indound EF	have received per		
	inbound hour		
	It shows the percentage		
Outbound	of outbound activity in		
	total working time		
	It shows how many		
Outbound FF	calls on average we		
Outbound Er	have made in outbound		
	hour		
	It shows the percentage		
Supervising	of supervising activity		
	in total working time		
Supervising	It shows ratio between		
FF	number of agents and		
	number of supervisors		
	It shows the percentage		
Project	of all project		
management	management activities		
	in total working time		
	It shows the percentage		
Customer	of all customer care		
care	activities in total		
	working time		
Complaint	It shows average		
solving EF	complaints quantity		
Solving Li	handled in an hour		
	It shows the percentage		
Fulfilment	of all warehouse		
1 uninnent	activities in total		
	working time		
	It shows the percentage		
Education	of activities connected		
Education	with education in total		
	working time		
Other	It shows the percentage		
activities	of inbound activity in		
	total working time		
	Percentage of goods		
Warehouse efficiency	flow (warehouse in and		
	out) regarding the		
2	working nours in		
	Demonstrate of the second seco		
	rercentage of number		
Stock turn	or products exiting the		
rate	warehouse comparing		
	with average stock of		
1	products		

KPI	Definition	Metric	Description
Product packaging efficiency	Percentage of number of packed products packed per hour in packing department		
Parcel packaging efficiency	Percentage of number of packed parcels packed per hour in packing department		
Reclamation efficiency	Percentage of number of received products in reclamation per working hour in reclamation department		
Reactivation of returned product	Percentage of the number of returned and serviced products that can be sold again (on main stock) regarding the total number of returned products		
Other activity efficiency	Percentage of the goods flow in warehouse (warehouse in and out) regarding the time spent for other activities (administration, control,)		

Appendix 6: Dialogue evaluation form

Greeting Correct introduction Polite phrase / establishing interest

Need analysis: listen, question, talk

Phrases show active listening Logical conversation flow Leading client through the dialog Showing empathy & understanding Need analyses / proper questions Convenient use of question techniques

Need solution: sale / service

Connecting client needs & solutions Presenting benefits to satisfy needs Basic Product / Service explanation

Need solution upgrade: sale / service

Connecting needs to advanced solutions Revealing benefits to perfectly satisfy needs Cross Product / Service explanation & advising Special benefits offer: savings, discounts, warranty Getting agreement on extra offer

Closing the dialogue

Agreement / deal overlook: products, payment, delivery, timing Positive; praise & greeting no matter the result

Language

Quality language standard use Trust building language Illustrative language Sales phrases (cost VS investment ...) Pronouncing important claims of satisfaction Proper tone & voice selection: stimulating, interested, not to loud/silent Proper language speed

General

Using client's name & surname Professional telephone manners External conversation interferences Gather obligatory client data / payment data Personal data use / new business contact asking Appendix 7: Script sample

Question 1 Introduction

Good morning/afternoon! My name is ______ (name and surname). I'm calling from Linea Directa on behalf of XXXXX which constructs industrial park in XXXXX region and intends to organize a presentation of the project for potential foreign companies that are thinking of establishing production, logistical or warehouse facilities in Russia. We are looking for foreign production companies that are doing business in Russia and could potentially set the production there. Do you classify yourself as this type of company?

Agent should read the presentation of the company on the training. In the case if client will ask them what this firm is doing, agent should be able to explain.

1. Yes	Next Q2
2. No	Close dialogue – Next Q8
3. Refuse to cooperate	Close dialogue – Next Q8

Question 2

We have received your company contacts from Russian trade chamber in Moscow. To make sure that we have the updated information I would like to check the correctness of these data.

1. Yes	Next Q3
2. No	Close dialogue – Next Q8
3. Refuse to cooperate	Close dialogue – Next Q8

Question 3 Contacts checking

Agent will check following data in partner mask:

- company name,
- address,
- city,
- zip code,
- fax number.

Agent should write down the answer in UPPER CASE LETTERS. The fax number should be written down without -()

1. Data checked	Next Q4
2. Refuse to answer	Next Q4

3. Refuse to cooperate	Close dialogue – Next Q9

Question 4 Contact person – CEO, commercial manager, financial manager

Could you please tell me the name of CEO or commercial manager in your company with intention to send him an invitation to the conference where this project will be presented?

Answer should be written down in UPPER CASE LETTERS.

1. Free text for name and surname	Next Q6
2. Refuse to answer	Close dialogue – Next Q5
3. Refuse to cooperate	Close dialogue – Next Q8

Question 5 Other person responsible for these questions?

Could you please recommend some other person who is responsible for investment and expansion of the company?

Answer should be written down in UPPER CASE LETTERS.

1. Free text for name and surname	Next Q6
2. Refuse to answer	Close dialogue – Next Q8
3. Refuse to cooperate	Close dialogue – Next Q8

Question 6 Transfer to person

I would like to thank you for your cooperation. Would you be so kind and transfer me to this person?

1. Yes	Next Q7
2. No	Close dialogue – Next Q8
3. Refuse to answer	Close dialogue – Next Q8
4. Refuse to cooperate	Close dialogue – Next Q8

Question 7 Invitation

Good morning/afternoon! My name is ______ (name and surname). I'm calling from Linea Directa on behalf of XXXXX which constructs industrial park in XXXXX region and intends to organize a presentation of the project for potential foreign companies that are thinking of establishing production, logistical or warehouse facilities in Russia. We are looking for foreign production companies that are doing business in Russia and could

potentially set the production there. In following days you will receive the invitation to this event in Moscow, where this project and specifics of industrial construction will be presented. To see if you will be interested to attend the presentation, we will call you again few days after you received the invitation.

Agent should read the presentation of the company on the training. In the case if client will ask them what this firm is doing, agent should be able to explain.

1. Close dialogue	Close dialogue – Next Q8

Question 8 Close dialogue

Thank you for your time. I wish you a nice day.

Viold 9/	Sigmo	Defects Per Million
	Sigilia	Opportunities
99.9997	6.00	3.4
99.9995	5.92	5
99.9992	5.81	8
99.9990	5.76	10
99.9980	5.61	20
99.9970	5.51	30
99.9960	5.44	40
99.9930	5.31	70
99.9900	5.22	100
99.9850	5.12	150
99.9770	5.00	230
99.9670	4.91	330
99.9520	4.80	480
99.9320	4.70	680
99.9040	4.60	960
99.8650	4.50	1350
99.8140	4.40	1860
99.7450	4.30	2550
99.6540	4.20	3460
99.5340	4.10	4660
99.3790	4.00	6210
99.1810	3.90	8190
98.9300	3.80	10700
98.6100	3.70	13900
98.2200	3.60	17800
97.7300	3.50	22700
97.1300	3.40	28700
96.4100	3.30	35900
95.5400	3.20	44600
94.5200	3.10	54800
93.3200	3.00	66800
91.9200	2.90	80800
90.3200	2.80	96800
88.5000	2.70	115000
86.5000	2.60	135000
84.2000	2.50	158000
81.6000	2.40	184000

Appendix 8: Table for yield, sigma and DPMO calculation (i Six Sigma, 2008)

78.8000	2.30	212000
75.8000	2.20	242000
72.6000	2.10	274000
69.2000	2.00	308000
65.6000	1.90	344000
61.8000	1.80	382000
58.0000	1.70	420000
54.0000	1.60	460000
50.0000	1.50	500000
46.0000	1.40	540000
43.0000	1.32	570000
39.0000	1.22	610000
35.0000	1.11	650000
31.0000	1.00	690000
28.0000	0.92	720000
25.0000	0.83	750000
22.0000	0.73	780000
19.0000	0.62	810000
16.0000	0.51	840000
14.0000	0.42	860000
12.0000	0.33	880000
10.0000	0.22	900000
8.0000	0.09	920000